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Cullinan Holdings was established in 1901 as the famous diamond mining 
company which discovered the world’s largest ever rough diamond. The 
company is listed on the Johannesburg Securities Exchange under the 
Tourism and Leisure sector.

The Group has evolved rapidly from a Group almost exclusively focusing on 
Tourism to the current business which operates in three major segments. 
These are Travel and Tourism, still the dominant segment, Marine and Boating 
and recently Financial Services.   

Within the Tourism and Travel segment, the Group operates some of the 
most reputable brands in Southern African travel and tourism. These are 
covered in more detail under the Group Profile.  The businesses within the 
Marine and Boating segment are licenced to supply many premium yachting 
products to yacht builders in South Africa, as well as retaining the agency 
for many well known leisure boating brands. The Finance segment was 
established in 2012 and is evolving into a key area for the business and 
continues to be the focus for the future.

In terms of Travel and Leisure, Cullinan has created an integrated business 
model which allows for the supply of high-quality travel packages in which 
the Group is involved in most parts of the chain of supply, with consequent 
control over service and the ability to provide excellent value to the 
traveller. Financial Services will leverage the cash generative nature of the 
Travel business and in addition, will work synergistically with the Boating 
businesses to offer a turn-key yacht finance offering.

The Group’s strategy of an integrated model is built on four pillars, being:

Partnerships: The Group values and builds long-term partnerships with both 
suppliers and customers. This provides us with the best choice of value 
product and a strong distribution network.

Employees: The Group is focused on attracting and retaining the best 
talent. The Group will also focus on training and development as a key to 
differentiate the business from its competitors.

Community: The Group actively looks for opportunities to benefit the broader 
community in areas where we operate.

Growth: The Group has worked hard to improve internal processes and 
efficiencies and is well positioned to grow organically. In addition, the Group 
intends, and is well positioned, to grow through acquisitions with a strong 
infrastructure and financial position.

A South African group providing
travel and leisure globally.

Tourism,  Leisure  &  FinanciaL  services
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Cullinan Holdings Limited presents its integrated report to 

stakeholders  for the 2015 financial year.

SCOPE
The integrated annual report covers both financial and non-  

financial activities of the Group for the period 1 October 2014 to       

30 September 2015.

The annual  financial statements comply with International       

Financial Reporting Standards and management has    

considered the draft guidelines on integrated reporting as the 

basis of preparation of this fourth integrated report.

ASSURANCE
No external assurance has been provided on the integrated 

report. The Group’s external auditors, Mazars, have provided 

external assurance on the annual  financial statements, in 

compliance with the companies Act of South Africa, which were 

prepared by D Standage CA(SA), financial director (refer to the 

Independent Auditors’ Report on page 17).

APPROVAL
As required by King III, the Audit Committee has reviewed 

the integrated annual report. The Board acknowledges 

its responsibility to ensure the integrity of the integrated 

report and the directors confirm that they have assessed the 

content and believe it is a fair representation of the integrated         

performance of the Group.

Michael Tollman    David Standage
Chief Executive Officer   Financial Director

17 March 2016
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FIVE-YEAR REVIEW OF INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE

GROUP PROFILE

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

GROUP STATISTICS
for the year ended 30 September

Revenue (R ‘000) 926 075 941 396 600 553 454 848 393 747

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) (R ‘000) 74 978 92 990 66 205 41 787 27 252

Profit for the year (R ‘000) 55 996 71 323 56 998 35 675 22 075

Cash generated from operations (R ‘000) 60 306 119 433 54 907 65 157 90 499

Current ratio (times) 1.18 1.15 : 1.00 1.17 : 1.00 1.21 : 1.00 1.20 : 1.00

Number of employees 1 180 1 231 1 190 897 867

Ordinary share performance (cents per share)

Leave in per share 7.03 8.50 7.85 4.95 3.07

Headline earnings per share 7.03 8.64 7.54 4.95 3.08

Net asset value per share 52.53 48.12 44.96 26.46 22.51

Closing market price 160 245 207 110 80

Cullinan Holdings limited

TRAVEL AND TOURISM MARINE AND BOATING FINANCIAL SERVICES CORPORATE SERVICES
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All brands within these segments are described on pages 3 to 5.
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TRAVEL AND TOURISM SEGMENT
OUTBOUND TOUR OPERATORS
Outbound tour operators (wholesalers) package travel arrangements 

for sale through the travel trade, primarily through travel agencies. The 

wholesale travel division of Cullinan consists of three brands, dealing 

with outbound travel. The brands are well-established in Southern Africa 

and recognised as industry leaders.

Thompsons Holidays is the leading outbound travel wholesaler 

in Southern Africa, selling leisure travel packages through travel 

agencies situated throughout Southern Africa. The division has offices 

in Johannesburg, Durban and Cape Town and offers packages for 

destinations throughout the world.

Cullinan is the appointed general sales agency and reservations provider 

for Island Light Holidays. Island Light Holidays has the exclusive agency 

to sell nine key hotels in the Indian Ocean islands, a major market for the 

South African travel trade.

Cullinan was appointed to develop packages and provide reservations for 

SAA Holidays with effect from 1 May 2012. SAA Holidays offers packaged 

holidays to all destinations on the SAA route outbound network.

INBOUND TOUR OPERATORS
Inbound tour operators (wholesalers) package travel arrangements for 

sale through the international travel trade, primarily through foreign 

tour operators, who sell Southern Africa as a destination to international 

tourists. Cullinan is proud to own a number of Southern Africa’s premier 

inbound operators.

Established in 1992 with the opening-up of South Africa as a tourist 

destination, Thompsons Africa has developed into the leading inbound 

destination management company in Southern Africa, supplying fully-

inclusive travel arrangements throughout Southern Africa to tour 

operators worldwide. The division has its head of office in Durban. 

The division also employs staff in all major tourist hubs and airports to 

ensure seamless service delivery to passengers. Thompsons Africa also 

operates the largest range of guaranteed departure guided holidays of 

any operator in Southern Africa.

Planet Africa is the market leader in bringing Japanese and Korean 

tourists to destinations in Southern Africa. The division is jointly owned 

and run by a team of Japanese travel professionals. Planet Africa added 

a corporate travel agency to its portfolio during the year. This agency 

deals with South African-based Japanese companies and individuals.

Springbok Atlas Touring and Safaris started inbound tourism into South 

Africa 65 years ago. The business was acquired by Cullinan Holdings 

in 2013 from Imperial Holdings. Springbok Atlas is a leading inbound 

destination management company selling Southern Africa travel to tour 

operators worldwide.

Grosvenor Tours was also acquired in 2013 from Imperial Holdings. 

The business offers exclusive, tailor-made travel and incentive travel 

into Southern Africa. The business is based in Cape Town and focuses 

primarily on the USA and South America for clientele.

Ikapa inbound tours division is a niche inbound tour operator and 

destination management company supplying group and individual travel 

arrangements to foreign tour operators. The business was acquired in 

2011.

Gateway is a sales agency which is 70% owned by Cullinan. It is located 

in Singapore and specialises in incentive, group and individual travel 

from South East Asia to Southern Africa. Its sphere of operation includes 

Singapore, Malaysia, Thailand, Indonesia and the Philippines. The 

company specialises in group and incentive travel.

African Diamond Tours and Incentives is an inbound tour operator 

focused on bringing Turkish tourists into Southern Africa. The division is 

jointly owned and run by a team of Turkish travel professionals.

GROUP PROFILE
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RETAIL TRAVEL
The travel agency division of Cullinan operates in two areas of retail 

travel. Leisure travel services are provided through Pentravel and 

Thompsons Leisure Travel, while corporate travel is handled by 

Thompsons Corporate Travel or Visions, for special corporate events 

and incentives.

This well-known retail travel agency has outlets located in most of the 

premier shopping malls across South Africa. Pentravel distributes and 

sells reputable airlines and leisure travel brands, including those of its 

sister division, Thompsons Holidays. It is supported by a central services 

marketing and product development unit based in Durban.

This division offers a specialist approach to providing travel arrangements 

for the corporate traveller. Well-known and highly regarded in the 

business travel community, it is conveniently located in Johannesburg, 

Durban and Cape Town. This division offers professional travel services 

to corporate customers for events, corporate groups and incentives.

This travel agency is focused on promoting the sales of the Thompsons 

Holidays product range to the South African travelling public. The 

division has offices in Johannesburg, Durban and Cape Town.

COAChING AND TOURING
The coaching and touring division runs a variety of brands in most of 

the major tourism hubs in Southern Africa. The business has traditionally 

been focused on providing coach charter and touring to the inbound 

tourism market but with the acquisition of Springbok Atlas coach charter 

in 2013, the customer profile now includes corporate and domestic 

leisure customers. The touring business comprises day tours, safaris and 

transfers.

Hylton Ross Exclusive Touring has been providing luxury touring services 

for over 30 years. The business started out as a small family business 

and the values of service excellence and reliability instilled at the time, 

have been maintained and continuously improved throughout its history. 

Hylton Ross operates coach charter throughout South Africa, with depots 

in Cape Town, Johannesburg and Durban. Although the core business 

lies with the charter of luxury coaches, Hylton Ross Exclusive Touring is 

also renowned for top-quality guided day tours throughout South Africa. 

In addition to the three depots as mentioned above, Hylton Ross Safari 

Touring has offices servicing the Kruger Park and Hluhluwe/Imfolozi 

and providing game drives and safaris. The addition of Eastgate Safaris, 

which operates in Hoedspruit (located near the northern Kruger Park) in 

2013, has increased the footprint of the safari business.

Ikapa Coach Charter was acquired in 2011 and runs a fleet of luxury 

coaches out of depots in Cape Town and Johannesburg.

In 2013, Cullinan Holdings acquired Springbok Atlas Coach charter from 

Imperial Holdings. This business provides exclusive coach charter to a 

mix of corporate and leisure customers, while also servicing a substantial 

inbound tour operator clientele. The business runs approximately 90 

coaches throughout Southern Africa, with depots in Johannesburg, 

Cape Town, Durban and Windhoek.

Chobezi
Chobezi operates game drives, boat cruises and excursions in and 

around the northern area of the Chobe National Park, Botswana.

MEETINGS, INCENTIVES, CONFERENCES AND EVENTS

Cullinan Outbound Tourism Groups and MICE is a specialist division 

focused on providing tailor-made group tours to worldwide destinations.

Thompsons meetings and incentives create and manage incentives and 

corporate events for various clients across various industries.

Edusport Travel was acquired as part of the 2013 transaction with Imperial 

Holdings. This 21-year old company specialises in incentives, sports 

travel and events. Over the years, the company has been appointed as 

an official operator for many major sporting events including a number 

of rugby world cups, soccer world cups, cricket and many more. During 

2014, Edusport held the exclusive licence in South Africa for the 2014 

FIFA World Cup held in Brazil.        

CONTINUED
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Peak Incentives is a specialist travel company that looks after the travel 

needs of various corporates. This includes Incentive Travel, executive 

weekend get-away’s, company conferences and events and an online 

rewards programme. Peak represents a number of specialist agencies 

offering various travel activities locally and abroad.

MARINE AND BOATING SEGMENT
The marine division supplies marine and boating equipment to boat 

builders (OEM) and wholesalers throughout South Africa. In addition, the 

division has two retail shops located in Cape Town.

The specialist distributor of premier boating equipment brands 

throughout South Africa for the past 34 years was acquired in October 

2008. Central Boating represents some of the major boating equipment 

brands such as Musto and Lewmar.

Manex has, over the past 43 years, been one of South Africa’s leading 

suppliers to the yachting, yacht-building, powerboat and scuba-diving 

industries. The business distributes many well-known yachting and 

diving brands such as Aqua Lung.

FINANCIAL SERVICES SEGMENT

Cullinan commenced trading in the  financial services division in 2013 

with the acquisition of Glacier Enterprises (Pty) Limited in October 2012 

and the expansion into bridging finance and marine finance in 2013.

Glacier Enterprises finances and facilitates imports of various products 

on behalf of agents. The products are on-sold to chain stores. The 

clientele and products are diverse and range from electronic goods to 

specialist paper and clothing.

Chester Finance provides short-term working capital and  financial 

backing to entrepreneurs involved in trading and manufacturing 

businesses. Chester Finance has successfully been designing trade  

finance solutions for their clients for more than 20 years. 

The Bridging Finance product is focused on short-term bridging  finance 

on property transfers, offered through selected, “qualified” attorneys. 

The Marine Finance product has been established to assist South African 

boat builders to sell their boats to overseas customers located in the 

USA and Europe.

CORPORATE SERVICES SEGMENT

This division was established in 2009 to focus on various projects to 

support community development in South Africa. The main areas of 

focus have been enterprise development through partnering with small 

emerging businesses, community assistance and skills development and 

training in local communities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT YEAR-END

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Michael Tollman (54)
Chief Executive Officer
Appointed 20/04/2006
Michael Tollman holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the 

University of Cape Town and is a South African Chartered Accountant. 

He brings extensive experience to Cullinan through his worldwide 

involvement in the travel and leisure industry. In particular, he brings 

knowledge and experience to the board in the areas of  finance and 

acquisitions. Michael is a director of a number of companies including 

Bouchard Finlayson Wine Estate and the Red Carnation group of hotels 

and he is the deputy Chairman of Wilderness Holdings Limited.

Linda Pampallis (58)
Executive Director
Chief Executive Officer of the Thompsons Africa division 
Appointed 01/01/2004
Linda Pampallis brings extensive experience to the travel group through 

her involvement in the Southern African travel industry for the past 37 

years. Linda was one of the original shareholders in Thompsons Tours 

(now Thompsons Holidays) and, in 1992, Linda started Thompsons 

Africa, the leading inbound tour operator in Southern Africa. In 1998, 

when Cullinan acquired the Thompsons business, Linda joined the 

Cullinan Group. She is also a director of the International Convention 

Centre, Durban.

David Standage (49)
Group Financial Director
Appointed 18/03/2009
David Standage has a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University 

of Natal (Durban) and is a South African Chartered Accountant. David 

joined the Thompsons group in 1998 as Financial Manager and then 

Chief Financial Officer of the Africa (Inbound) division. He managed 

the Thompsons Touring and Safaris division for two years from 2006 to 

2008 before being appointed as the Cullinan Group Financial Director 

in March 2009.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
David Hosking (62)
Non-executive director
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
Appointed 18/07/2002
David Hosking is the Chairman of Contiki Holidays. David has extensive 

knowledge of touring worldwide, setting up programmes in Europe, 

USA, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, Asia and Africa.

Gavin Tollman (52)
Non-executive director
Chairman
Appointed 16/07/2008
Gavin Tollman has had a far-reaching executive career in the travel 

industry which has included managing both hotel companies and tour 

operators. Currently he is the CEO of Trafalgar Tours, a global coach 

tour operator. Gavin also serves on various industry boards and focus 

groups. Gavin was appointed as Chairman of the Cullinan Group in          

December 2003.

Michael Ness (70)
Independent non-executive director
Member of the Audit and Remuneration Committees
Appointed 18/07/2002
Mike Ness is the deputy Chairman of TTC Travel Group. He has been 

involved in the travel industry for 44 years, during which he oversaw the 

growth of Trafalgar Tours from a small European operator to the world’s 

largest coach tour operator. Mike was actively involved in expanding this 

business, including the purchase of Contiki Holidays, Insight Vacations, 

and Evan Evans. This led to the formation of The Travel Corporation.

Rudewaan Arendse (46)
Independent non-executive director
Chairman of the Audit Committee, member of the Remuneration 
Committee and Lead Independent Director 
Appointed 15/12/2009
Rudewaan Arendse holds a BA (Honours) degree. Rudewaan has had 

significant consulting experience, particularly in project management in 

the regional and national government spheres. He currently holds the 

position of special advisor to the MEC for Education, Western Cape.

Ami Azoulay (42)
Independent non-executive director
Member of the Audit Committee
Appointed 01/08/2011
Ami Azoulay is the regional  financial director of Wilderness Safaris 

South Africa. He was previously a partner in an audit firm and brings 

both technical and tourism related experience to the Board.

Sindiswa Nhlumayo (45)
Independent non-executive director
Appointed 19/01/2011
Sindiswa Nhlumayo is the Executive Head of the Centre for Maritime 

Excellence at the South African Maritime Safety Authority. She is the 

former Head of the Human Resources Development Council and prior 

to that she was the Deputy Director General for Tourism at the National 

Department of Tourism. She is the former Head of the first ever Tourism 

Black Economic Empowerment Council, a former special advisor to 

the Minister of Tourism and former Chief Director for Tourism and 

Economic Development in the Western Cape. She holds a Master of 

Science Degree from the University College of Buckinghamshire. She 

is a founding member of the Cape and Craft Design Institute, and also 

a lifetime fellow of the Emerging Leaders Program from Duke University 

in the United States and University of Cape Town in South Africa. She 

currently serves on the National Heritage Council and Tourism KwaZulu-

Natal. She is currently enrolled for a PhD in Maritime Affairs at the World 

Maritime University and is a recipient of a Top Women Award in the 

category of Public Sector in South Africa.       
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND TRANSFORMATION

Cullinan engages with many stakeholders and therefore welcomes 

the King III report requiring more detailed coverage beyond  financial 

performance. Our key stakeholders include investors, customers, 

employees, communities, regulatory bodies and suppliers.

Transactions with some of these stakeholders are shown in the value 

added statement below. Value added is defined as the value created by 

the activities of the business and its employees. In the case of Cullinan, 

wealth is created through the provision of primarily travel and tourism 

services.

This statement shows total wealth created and how it was distributed, 

taking into account amounts retained and reinvested in the Group for 

replacement assets and development of operations.

Engagement with stakeholders takes a number of different forms:

INVESTORS
Cullinan engages with shareholders through regular communication by:

• Distribution of annual and interim  financial reports;

• SENS announcements; and

• Regular updates on the investor page and press releases distributed 

on the Cullinan website.

• The holding of the Annual General Meeting

EMPLOYEES
Cullinan recognises that its success lies in its people and, as such, 

strives for each of its brands to be the employer of choice in its area of 

business. The Group has worked hard to ensure that it attracts, retains 

and motivates employees of the right attitude and calibre.

The businesses engage with employees in a number of formal and 

informal ways, including having a Group policy of bi-annual appraisals 

and ongoing performance management processes.

EMPLOYMENT EQUITY
The Group favours the appointment of equally qualified previously 

disadvantaged people for positions in order to adequately represent the 

demographics of the country.

COMMUNITIES
Cullinan, through its various brands, supports a number of key initiatives, 

foundations and codes of conduct. These include:

• Membership and contribution to the Treadright Foundation, a 

global initiative founded by the Travel Corporation to support 

environmental causes in areas impacted by Tourism.

• Signatory to the Tourism Child Protection Code of Conduct, a global 

initiative to increase protection of children from exploitation;

• Association with Boundless Africa, an organisation selected by nine 

Southern African countries to showcase and protect trans- frontier 

conservation areas;

• Partnership with the Green Leaf Environmental Standard, which 

encourages participation by partners to engage in environmental 

best practice; and

• Membership of the Fair Trade in Tourism Association, Wildlands 

Trust, Endangered Wildlife Trust and Hoedspruit Endangered 

Species centre.

The Group also supports new and emerging tourism entrepreneurs 

by encouraging tourists to support these businesses. These include 

township tours, restaurants and training for emerging travel agents.

The Cullinan Group, through its various businesses has been very active 

in social and charitable initiatives. These are detailed on our website.

2015

R ‘000

2015

%

2014

R ‘000

2014

%

Value added

Revenue

Less: Operational costs

926 075

407 225

941 396

440 062

Wealth created 518 847 501 334

Distribution of wealth

Employees

Government 

Shareholders 

Re-invested in the Group

    Depreciation and amortisation

    Capital expenditure

    Additions to assets through business combinations 

    Retained income

293 068

19 953

16 003

189 826

36 543

96 686

273

56 321

32

2

2

20

242 214

28 815

24 005

206 300

36 574

94 016

7 720

67 990

26

3

2

22

Wealth distribution 518 847 56 501 334 53

Employee statistics

Number of employees at year-end 1 180 1 231

Wealth created per employee 440 407
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND TRANSFORMATION

CUSTOMERS
Cullinan, through its operating entities, engages with customers in a 

variety of ways. These include:

• Ongoing and regular electronic communications in the form of 

newsletters, product offerings and updates;

• Regular meetings with customers, both locally and internationally; 

and

• Attendance at trade shows and exhibitions to meet with existing 

and potential customers.

SUPPLIERS
The various business units within Cullinan recognise the need to 

“partner” with suppliers. Therefore, engagement is regular and ongoing 

and includes the following:

• Regular visits and presentations by suppliers to business, providing 

staff with access to up-to-date information on the suppliers’ 

products and offerings;

• Regular visits by staff to suppliers to assess the standards and 

suitability of their products/offerings; and

• Formalised service level agreements with suppliers.

REGULATORY BODIES
The Group engages with a wide range of regulatory or industry bodies. 

Other than government, these include bodies such as South African 

Tourism, the Association of South African Travel Agents and the Tourism 

Business Council of South Africa. Engagement takes the form or 

meetings, attendance at road shows and formal engagement through 

statutory submissions.

CONTINUED
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

OVERVIEW
The group generated profit before tax of R76m (2014 : R101m) in the 

year and this translated into R116m in cash generated before changes 

in working capital. 

Tourism  in Southern Africa faced a number of challenges during 2015. 

The impact from the Ebola epidemic,  the anouncement of new South 

African visa regulations and xenophobic violence all contributed to 

weaker tourism numbers in 2015, despite the weakening Rand which 

would normally have a positive effect on Inbound Tourism.

While these factors resulted in a decrease in overall earnings per share 

of 19%, other segments of the business produced a positive  performance 

which assisted in  mitigating  the group results. The 2015 results came on 

the back of rapid growth in profits in the business which averaged 50% 

for the three years to September 2014.

Our strategy in 2015 was to focus on areas  which were within our sphere 

of  influence.  We continued to focus on improving our businesses through 

improved quality and service levels, rigorous management of costs and 

growth in strategic areas. Growth included expanding the travel agency 

business through the opening of additional shops, continuing to improve 

the quality of our coach fleet and depots and continuing to expand the 

financial services segment. We also continued to improve IT systems 

within the group which saw progress in our network and development of 

our travel reservations system.

Although cash reserves declined to R108m, the business continues to 

be strongly cash generative. This cash was utilised primarily to finance 

the growth in our trade finance book which is in line with our strategy 

to obtain better returns on unutilised cash. In addition, Chester Finance 

was acquired out of cash reserves and a further R75m was invested in 

improving our coach fleet, which we are pleased to confirm is now the 

youngest modern  luxury coach fleet in Southern Africa.

The Group gearing remains low. A R100m loan facility was concluded in 

the year with the Travel Corporation, a related company, of which R70m 

had been utilised to assist in the funding requirements for the Financial 

Services businesses.

The Group has maintained the dividend of 2 cents per share.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

MARINE AND BOATING SEGMENT
The businesses have traded profitably, with the gradual improvement 

in boat demand worldwide and weakened Rand making South African 

boatbuilding globally more competitive, thus resulting in an upward 

trend in 2015. 

TRAVEL AND TOURISM SEGMENT
Retail Travel
In general, consumer spending has been under pressure in South Africa 

in 2015, so it is pleasing to see that both Pentravel and Thompsons 

Leisure Travel  achieved growth in market share for the year.

Pentravel also opened two new branches and expanded PenDirect, the 

online travel business, during the year. The intention is to continue this 

strategy for Pentravel over the next few years. 

Thompsons Corporate Travel had another successful year,  and although 

operating in  a very competitive space,  it continues to focus on consistent 

service excellence and  a relentless focus on the customer. 

Outbound Tour Operators
The various divisions within the outbound business performed well 

during  the year. Thompsons Holidays increased sales and controlled 

costs within the parameters set for the business with a resultant 

improvement in  financial results. 

Inbound Tour Operators
These business units were heavily impacted by the factors mentioned 

above. The Ebola epidemic started in 2014 with the effects becoming 

more pronounced from November 2014. The expected rebound from 

Ebola has only started to take effect from October 2015, with the 

recovery out of the US, Canada and Europe/United Kingdom. The 

recovery has been slower from the Far East and South East Asia, which 

are traditionally large contributors to our business. There are signs of 

recovery in these markets in 2016. 

The effect of Ebola was further compounded by the negative impact of 

the anouncment of Biometric visas for Chinese and Indian tourists,  and 

the implementation of the unabridged birth certificates requirement for 

children under 18 years of age travelling to and from South Africa. 

Coaching and Touring
The Cullinan coach business has traditionally been focused on the 

Inbound Leisure tourism market through the Hylton Ross and Ikapa 

Coach brands. Passenger volumes were negatively impacted by the 

drop in toursim numbers in 2015. The acquisition of Springbok Atlas in 

2013 has to some extent diversified this risk as it  focuses on  corporates, 

schools, and other domestic leisure clientele. Overall the coach business 

fundamentals are positive, having upgraded its modern coach fleet, 

implemented world class standards in its coach depots, and with a 

professional team of  management and staff to operate the business.

Meetings, Incentives, Conferences and Events
Edusport continues to contribute positively to the Cullinan group results. 

The Incentive business acquired from Peak Incentives in 2014 has 

been consistent, while the Rugby World Cup was the main focus of the 

sporting and events side of the business. This was a  successful project 

which carried approximately 1100 fans to the United Kingdom.

CULLINAN FINANCIAL SERVICES SEGMENT
In our 2012 report, we highlighted the strategy to grow the newly formed 

Cullinan Financial Services Division. 

Cullinan has since acquired Glacier Enterprises (Pty) Ltd and launched a 

number of  niche finance businesses. In October 2014, Cullinan acquired 

Chester Finance from Chester Group. This  niche trade finance company 

has contributed  to the group results in its first year, and we expect 

further growth in the future. Our intention is to continue growing the 

Cullinan Financial Services Division both organically and through further 

acquisitions.

INTEGRATED REPORTING
This is the fifth year in which we have prepared the integrated report as 

required by King III and we believe that the report has achieved what is
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

required in terms of these recommendations and fairly presents the 

financial and non-financial measures of performance.

The Group has also made significant progress in applying the 

requirements of King III and in instances where we have not complied; 

this is reported on as required. Apart from the financial performance, I am 

also pleased to announce that the Group has been successful in meeting 

a number of the strategic objectives as set out earlier in this integrated 

report and these include:

The Group implemented a mentorship programme in 2013. The 

purpose was to assist new entrants to the market and  to grow their 

skills base whilst working for the group. It was also created to assist 

in developing previously disadvantaged staff by providing them with 

the skills and knowledge required to proceed to supervisory and 

management positions. The programme has been expanded and in 

2015, approximately 50 previously disadvantaged staff entered the 

program with 38 graduating. Based on the success of the programme to 

date, it has been decided to develop the program to an advanced level II 

course, so as to further build on the 130  graduates from the programme 

thus far. 

The Group agreed to continue to look for opportunities to assist local 

communities and travel-related emerging businesses as it has done 

in the past year. In terms of social responsibility, the various business 

units have invested a significant amount of time in supporting various  

charitable causes. The list of these engagements is substantial and can 

be found on the Cullinan website.

In keeping with Cullinan Holdings commitment to conservation and 

the various conservation projects in Africa, the Group is a member of 

The Tread Right Foundation, a non-profit foundation established to 

encourage sustainable tourism. One of its many programmes is focused 

on preventing the destruction of endangered species, including Rhino, 

Sharks and Lions.

PROSPECTS FOR 2016
Our view for 2016 is cautious optimisim. Whilst the weaker Rand is seen 

as a positive for our inbound travel businesses, it is a negative for our 

outbound tourism businesses. We are concerned by the weak state of 

the South African economy, and the impact that this may have on local 

demand, as well as the increased risk of inflation due to the weakening  

rand. Inflation has a twofold effect in that it may stifle demand for luxury 

services such as holidays, and may also place further pressure on  the 

ability to control the operating costs of  the business.

When looking at the tourism inbound businesses, the effects from 

the Ebola epidemic have decreased and accordingly we have seen 

a recovery from late 2015. The visa regulations, however, continue to 

dampen enthusiasm for the destination, and we remain hopeful that 

changes to the visa regulations regarding unabridged birth certificates 

for inbound tourists will be  implemented soon. 

The Marine businesses are well run and sound, and while many 

components are imported, the overall competitiveness of the South 

Africa boat industry should be assisted by the weaker currency.

Our financial services businesses trade in the secondary lending space 

and primarily provide trade/import finance. Obviously borrowing is 

influenced by the client demand and this looks to be under pressure in a 

weaker economy. Notwithstanding this, we believe there is opportunity 

to increase existing business  levels.

Our strategy remains consistent with the prior year: 

• We are committed to investing in our various business units to 

ensure that they maintain their position as market leaders in the 

travel sector through service excellence, quality product and a 

continued customer focus;

• We approved a further R34m in capital expenditure, the bulk being 

for our coach fleet in 2016, with a further R18m approved should the 

business justify this;

• We will also continue to invest in our Asian inbound businesses 

which we believe can achieve significant growth over the next 5 

years. This is provided that the South African visa regulations can 

be resolved in a practical manner for tourists wanting to visit the 

country;

• We will continue to pursue growth in the Financial Services segment  

by internal organic growth and  by acquisition;

• We will continue to grow our retail travel business by  expanding 

the number of  travel shops in the group.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to thank our chairman, 

directors, executives, our staff and our partners for their support, 

dedication and professionalism during the 2015 year and for their 

outstanding contribution during the year. 

Yours sincerely,

Michael Tollman
Chief Executive Officer

17 March 2016

CONTINUED
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STATEMENT OF APPLICATION
The Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) require that all JSE-

listed companies report on the extent to which they apply the principles 

set out in the King III report or explain the reasons for non-application. 

The Company endorses the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct 

as set out in the King III Report and believes that it applies with the major 

recommendations of the Code with the following exceptions:

• The Chairman of the Board, Mr Gavin Tollman is not deemed to be 

independent. In cases where there may be a conflict of interest, 

the lead independent director, R Arendse, chairs the meetings of 

the Board.

• King III recommends that non-executive remuneration consists 

of a base fee and an attendance fee. Directors do not receive a 

base fee; while most receive a fee for attendance which we believe 

encourages attendance at meetings. This matter was reviewed 

by the Remuneration Committee after financial year end and 

recommendations to pay non-executive directors a retainer and fee 

for attendance were adopted.

• There is no formal dispute resolution process for the Board as the 

Board believes the current process works satisfactorily. 

A 75-point checklist summarising Culllinan’s application of the principles 

of King III can be found on the Company website:                           

www.cullinan.co.za/downloads/KING_III_CHECKLIST.pdf

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

In line with the recommendations of King III, Cullinan has a unitary Board 

in which the majority are non-executive directors, most of which are 

independent. Details of the directors of Cullinan are set out on page 

6 of this report. As of 30 September 2015, the Board comprises four 

independent non-executive directors, two nonexecutive directors and 

three executive directors as defined under the Listings Requirements of 

the JSE.

The independence of non-executive directors has been assessed as 

required by King III. This included a review of the independence of M 

Ness, the sole director who has been on the Board for more than 10 

years. The Board is satisfied that all directors classified as independent 

are in fact independent.

The responsibilities of executive and non-executive directors are strictly 

separated to ensure that no director can exercise unrestricted powers of 

decision-making. The Chairman provides leadership and guidance to the 

Board and encourages proper deliberation on all matters requiring the 

Board’s attention while obtaining input from other directors. The practice 

of appointing the Chairman on an annual basis was introduced in 2014 

in accordance with the recommendations of King III. The executive 

directors are responsible for implementing strategy and imparting 

operational knowledge and experience to Board deliberations. All non-

executive directors are sufficiently qualified to contribute industry skill 

and expertise.

BOARD CHARTER
A formal Board Charter has been adopted and sets out the Board’s role 

and responsibilities as well as the requirements for its composition and 

meeting procedures.

BOARD MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE
The Board meets at least four times a year and is responsible for 

monitoring the Group’s performance and determining Group strategy. 

Attendance at meetings for the year was as follows:

Board Audit Risk Remu-

neration

Social &

Ethics

M Tollman* 4/4 2/2

L Pampallis 2/4

D Standage 4/4 4/4 4/4

M Ness 4/4 3/3 2/2

R Arendse¹ 4/4 3/3 4/4 4/4

S Nhumayo 4/4

A Azoulay 4/4 3/3

D Hosking³ 4/4 2/2

G Tollman# 4/4

B Allison² 4/4 4/4

 
# Chairman

* Chief Executive Officer

¹ Chairman Audit Committee, Social and Ethics Committee

² Company Secretary, member of Risk Committee and Social and Ethics 

   Committee

³ Chairman Remuneration Committee

Board meetings were held on 10 December 2014, 18 February 2015,          

27 May 2015 and 7 October 2015.

• Audit Committee meetings were held on 10 December 2014, 27 

May 2015 and 7 October 2015.

• Risk Committee meetings were held on 18 February 2015, 27 May 

2015 and 7 October 2015.

• Remuneration Committee meetings were held on 18 November 

2014 and 11 March 2015.

• Social and Ethics Committee meetings were held on 10 December 

2014, 18 February 2015, 27 May 2015 and 7 October 2015.

The directors were satisfied with the current status of the Board.

On 19 May 2015, and in compliance with the requirements of King 

III, R. Arendse was appointed to the Remuneration Committee. The 

Committee now consists of three non-executive directors, of which two 

are independent, and one Executive Director.
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RETIREMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, the following directors 

retire and are eligible for re-election:

• M Ness

• D Hosking

DIRECTORS’ DEALINGS IN SHARES
There are no shares held by directors or prescribed officers. 

Share options held are detailed in note 21.

Directors and prescribed officers are restricted from trading in the shares 

of the Company during two defined closed periods ahead of reporting 

of interim and annual results. Outside of these periods, directors are 

required to notify the Company Secretary of any dealings, which are then 

disclosed on the SENS of the JSE. 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
Any conflicts of interest of the directors with the Company must be 

formally disclosed. No conflicts of interest have been disclosed this year 

to date.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company Secretary is responsible for providing the Board with 

guidance in discharging its responsibilities in terms of legislation, 

regulatory requirements and the fiduciary responsibility of the directors.

The Company Secretary, Mr Bradley Allison was appointed in 2011. Prior 

to joining Cullinan Holdings, Mr Allison spent 10 years in a legal practice, 

focusing on Commercial and Civil litigation including Company Law. 

While no longer in legal practice, Mr Allison holds an LLB degree and 

has passed the attorneys admission examinations.

The Board has satisfied itself that Mr Allison has the competence, 

qualifications and experience to fulfil the role of Company Secretary. This 

was done informally by reviewing the conduct of Mr Allison throughout 

the year.

As Mr Allison is an employee of the Company, the Board accepts 

that there is no “arm’s length” relationship between the Board and 

the Company Secretary. However, Mr Allison’s legal background, 

independent mindset and authority within the organisation have allowed 

him to pragmatically pursue the goal of good governance. This has been 

done by consultation with advisers, referral back to the requirements of 

King III, the JSE Listings Requirements and legislation.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS
The Board has ensured that adequate systems of internal control are 

designed, maintained and complied with.

EMPLOYMENT EQUITY
Employment equity is considered to be the greatest industrywide 

transformation challenge. Employment equity candidates are prioritised 

for consideration for all new appointments. Cullinan is deeply committed 

to transformation and provides equal opportunities for and fair treatment 

of all employees.

Employment equity targets have been set for the Company. No changes 

were made during the year. Business units complete and submit 

employment equity plans, which are consolidated and reported to the 

Department of Labour.

LABOUR LEGISLATION
The Group conforms to labour legislation and subscribes to the principles 

of fairness developed and applied in labour dispute resolution forums. 

Annual returns have been submitted in terms of the requirements of the 

Employment Equity Act 1998. 

The employment equity status of the South African operations for the 

year ended 30 September 2015 is set out below:

EMPLOYMENT EQUITY STATUS

Male Female Foreign Nationals

Occupational levels African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Male Female TOTAL

Top management 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 2 1 0 7

Senior management 0 1 1 17 1 0 0 11 1 1 33

Professionally qualified and experienced 

specialists and mid-management 2 2 4 22 0 2 1 31 0 1 65

Skilled technical and academically 

qualified workers, junior management, 

supervisors, foremen and 

superintendents 28 23 17 56 44 47 71 235 3 1 525

Semi-skilled and discretionary 

decision-making 82 59 19 35 41 48 42 149 1 1 474

Unskilled and defined desicion-making 15 8 0 3 19 7 0 6 0 0 58

Total permanent 127 93 41 137 105 104 114 431 6 4 1162

Temporary employee’s 5 2 0 0 1 0 3 7 0 0 18

Grand total 132 95 41 137 106 104 117 438 6 4 1180

CONTINUED
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BLACK ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT
Cullinan firmly believes in Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment 

(B-BBEE) as a coherent socio-economic process that directly contributes 

to the economic transformation of South Africa and brings about 

significant increases in the number of previously disadvantaged 

individuals who can now manage, own and actively participate in the 

country’s economy.

A number of divisions received Divisional B-BBEE certification at levels 

between 2 and 4.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
Cullinan recognises that HIV/AIDS in South Africa will impact on 

businesses and employees to a greater or lesser degree. In this context, 

the Company has committed itself to measuring and understanding the 

potential impact of HIV/AIDS in the Company, and to the implementation 

of an HIV/AIDS prevention and impact management strategy. The broad 

objectives of this programme will be:

• To build capability to manage the impact of HIV/AIDS;

• To constrain the development of new cases of HIV/AIDS in the 

organisation;

• To manage existing cases of HIV/AIDS effectively from a medical 

and psychological perspective; and

• To mitigate stigma in the workplace which embraces both the rights 

and responsibilities of all employees with regard to HIV/AIDS.

ETHICS
The Group is committed to the highest standards of integrity, behaviour 

and ethics in dealing with all its stakeholders. In 2012, the Group 

instituted a policy around ethical business practice and fraud, established 

a zero tolerance policy to fraud as well as improving the prevention and 

discovery of fraud through the establishment of a fraud reporting line. A 

Social and Ethics Committee is also in place.

COMMUNITY
As an initiative to grow and improve our transformation, the Group 

focused on growing existing young businesses. Cullinan Business 

Development successfully initiated a programme to uplift black-owned 

SMME businesses in South Africa. This is an ongoing programme and is 

part of our drive to creating an enabling environment and contributing to 

the transformation of the economy.

ENVIRONMENT
Cullinan makes an effort to ensure that all its business units are operated 

in a manner that minimises the effects on the environment and attempts 

are made to enhance their surroundings wherever possible.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board delegates certain functions to committees to assist it to fulfil 

its duties. Appropriate structures for these committees are in place, 

with formal charters adopted for each committee which align with the 

requirements of King III.

All committees comprise a majority of non-executive directors except as 

already highlighted. The Chair of each sub-committee reports at Board 

meetings. The Chair of the Audit Committee attends the Annual General 

Meeting.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Board has delegated responsibility for the oversight of the 

Group’s remuneration practices to the Remuneration Committee. The 

Remuneration Committee comprises three non-executive directors (D 

Hosking, R Arendse and MA Ness) and an executive director (M Tollman) 

and is chaired by a non-executive director (D Hosking).

The committee operates within a documented charter in order to apply 

the requirements of King III and the Companies Act, 2008.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Key functions include:

• Oversight of the setting and administering of remuneration at 

all levels of the business to promote the achievement of the 

Company’s objectives;

• Reviewing the outcomes of the policy to determine whether the 

objectives are being met;

• Advising on the remuneration of non-executive directors; and

• Oversight of the preparation of the remuneration report and 

recommendation of the report to the Board, ensuring the report 

is accurate, provides a clear explanation of the remuneration 

policy and provides sufficient information to shareholders to pass 

the necessary special resolution in terms of section 66(9) of the 

Companies Act, 2008.

REMUNERATION REPORT

Remuneration packages for all employees consist of:

• Base pay determined on the total cost to Company basis which 

includes a Group provident fund and Group medical aid scheme;

• Sales target-based incentive remuneration for sales employees;

• A discretionary annual incentive bonus dependent upon the 

Company’s performance against set targets and the individual 

performance of employees as determined in bi-annual appraisals; 

and

• Certain employees received share options through the Company 

share option scheme.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Group is a member of the Vitae Umbrella Provident Fund. The Group 

has no material liabilities for post-retirement benefits as disclosed in the 

notes to the annual financial statements.

All permanent employees at a management level or above are required 

to join the Discovery Health medical aid scheme unless covered by the 

scheme of their spouses or partners.
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BOARD REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to directors is disclosed in the notes to the annual 

financial statements.

As recommended by King III the Group’s remuneration policy was 

proposed to shareholders by way of a non-binding advisory vote at 

the Annual General Meeting held on 27 February 2015. The policy was 

unanimously adopted.

As required by the Companies Act, 2008, fees for services payable to 

directors for the following year were approved at the Annual General 

Meeting held on 27 February 2015.

PROCEDURE FOR APPOINTMENT TO THE BOARD

The Board has the responsibility for the oversight of the Group’s 

nominations of directors.

The Board periodically assesses the skills represented on the Board 

by non-executive directors and determines whether these meet the 

Company’s needs. Where the Company has identified these needs, 

individual directors are asked to identify potential candidates.

Any proposed changes to the Board are considered by the 

Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee will then make 

recommendations to the Board for approval.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
The Group is exposed to a wide range of risks. The committee assists 

the Board in identification of these risks and to ensure that the Group has 

implemented an effective policy for risk management.

The Risk Management Committee was established in 2011 and comprises 

two directors, D Standage and R Arendse, and the internal legal advisor 

and Company Secretary, B Allison.

The Risk Management Committee seeks to ensure that management 

has implemented an effective policy and plan to manage risk.

The Board has satisfied itself as to the effectiveness and appropriateness 

of the risk management systems and processes in place during the 

period under review.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT

COMMITTEE

Key functions include:

• Oversight of the development and annual review of a risk policy 

and plan;

• Oversight of the dissemination of the risk plan throughout the Group 

and its integration in the day-to-day activities of the Company;

• Monitoring implementation of policy and plan for risk management;

• Liaiseing closely with the Audit Committee to exchange relevant 

information;

• Expressing a formal opinion to the Board on the effectiveness of 

the risk management system; and

• Reviewing risk reporting in the integrated report to ensure that the 

information is timely, comprehensive and relevant.

RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT

Significant risks have been identified and are proactively managed. The 

following information provides insight into these risks and how they are 

mitigated within the Group. Financial risks are disclosed in note 48 to the 

annual financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND MITIGATION

Credit risk
Definition – the risk of financial loss as a result of a customer failing to 

meet its obligations.

How mitigated – setting of prudent credit limits, established credit 

policies and regular reports to the committee for any debtor not 

complying with terms.

Currency/exchange risk
Definition – the risk that the Company will incur losses through 

fluctuations in the exchange rate.

How mitigated – at divisional (operational) level the Group has a policy 

of zero exchange exposure. All foreign assets/liabilities are hedged. 

Any exchange exposure is considered and approved by the CEO in 

conjunction with the Financial Director.

Passenger liability risk
Definition – the risk of material claims being made against the Group in 

the event of an accident or any other incident or event.

How mitigated – the Group ensures that appropriate levels of insurance 

cover are in place. The liability policy in place is specifically designed to 

mitigate risks inherent in the tourism industry. The Group ensures that 

controls, procedures and contracts are in place to mitigate against the 

risk of an accident or incident.

Compliance and legal risk
Definition – the risk of incurring financial loss due to penalties for non-

compliance with legislation.

How mitigated – a top-down approach to governance ensures that 

policies are aligned for all businesses. Expert advice is retained where 

necessary to assist with compliance. The Group’s internal legal advisor 

assists with identifying and keeping the business up to date with changes 

in legislation.

CONTINUED
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SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
A Social and Ethics Committee was established in 2012. The committee 

operates within a formal charter which complies with the requirements of 

King III, with relevant legislation and codes of best practice with respect 

to:

• Social and economic development, including BBBEE, employment 

equity and goals set out by the United Nations and OECD;

• Promotion of equality and contribution to communities in which the 

Group’s activities are conducted;

• Monitor the effect of the Group’s activities on the environment and 

on health and public safety; and

• Monitor compliance with Consumer and Labour legislation of best 

practice.

The Social and Ethics Committee comprises one independent non-

executive director acting as chairman (R Arendse), one executive director 

(D Standage) and the Company legal advisor (B Allison).

The Chairman of the Social and Ethics Committee attends the Annual 

General Meeting to answer any questions regarding the committee’s 

activities.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee is a statutory committee with responsibilities 

detailed in the Companies Act, 2008.

The Audit Committee operates within a formal charter which complies 

with the requirements of King III and the Companies Act, 2008. The 

committee also acts on behalf of all other Cullinan Group companies that 

have not established their own audit committees. The Chairman of the 

Audit Committee is required to attend the Annual General Meeting to 

answer any questions regarding the committee’s activities.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive 

directors (A Azoulay, M Ness and R Arendse) and is chaired by R Arendse. 

Management and external auditors are invited to attend meetings at the 

invitation of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year. The purpose of the 

Audit Committee is to assist the Board in carrying out its duties relating 

to accounting policies, internal controls, financial reporting practices, 

identification of exposure to significant risk and setting principles for 

recommending the use of external auditors for non-audit services.

Key functions include:

EXTERNAL AUDIT

• To consider the independence of the external auditors;

• To approve the terms of engagement of the external auditors and 

estimated fees for audit and other services;

• To review the quality and effectiveness of the external auditors; and

• To recommend the external auditors for appointment by 

shareholders.

INTEGRATED REPORTING

• To review, before submission of the relevant documents to the 

Board, the integrity of the integrated report;

• To recommend the integrated report to the Board;

• To review the annual financial statements and any interim reports 

and other results announcements and recommend these to the 

Board; and

• To report on the accounting practices and effectiveness of internal 

controls.

INTERNAL AUDIT

• To consider and approve the internal audit plan; and

• To oversee any internal audit function.

RISK MANAGEMENT

• To oversee the financial reporting risks, internal financial controls, 

fraud risk and IT risk; and

• To consider the expertise, resources and experience of the financial 

function and the experience and expertise of the Financial Director.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
The report of the Audit Committee forms part of the annual financial 

statements and can be found on page 18 of the integrated report.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL

FOR THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are required by the Companies Act of South Africa to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content and 

integrity of the annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is their 

responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group and 

Company as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International 

Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements and Group 

annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 

SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently 

applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the Company and Group and 

place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the Board sets 

standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of 

responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level 

of risk.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal control provides reasonable 

assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements. 

However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board of directors acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the integrity of the integrated report. The Board has accordingly applied its mind to 

the integrated report and in the opinion of the Board the integrated report addresses all material issues, and presents fairly the integrated performance 

of the organisation and its impacts. The integrated report has been prepared in line with best practice pursuant to the recommendations of the King III 

Code (principle 9.1). The Board authorised the integrated report for release on 17 March 2016.

The directors have reviewed the Company and Group cash flow forecasts for the year to 30 September 2016 and, in the light of this review and the 

current financial position, they are satisfied that the Company and Group has or has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence 

for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the annual financial statements and Group annual financial 

statements and their report is presented on page 17.

The annual financial statements and Group annual financial statements set out on pages 21 to 72, which have been prepared on the going-concern 

basis, were approved by the Board on 17 March 2016 and were signed on its behalf by:

Michael Tollman           David Standage
Chief Executive Officer          Financial Director

17 March 2016

In my capacity as Group Secretary, I hereby confirm, in terms of section 33 together with section 88 of the Companies Act, 2008, that for the year ended 

30 September 2015, the Company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Properties Commission all such returns as are required of a public 

company in terms of this Act and that all such returns are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, correct and up to date.

B Allison
Company Secretary

17 March 2016

CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPANY SECRETARY
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Cullinan Holdings Limited
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Cullinan Holdings Limited set out on pages 21 to 72, which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at 30 September 2015, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of 

cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 

to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Cullinan Holdings 

Limited as at 30 September 2015, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Emphasis of matter
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 47 of the annual financial statements explaining that the 2014 annual financial statements on 

which we issued an unqualified audit report dated 15 December 2014 contained a misstatement.  The comparative figures for revenue and cost of sales 

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income have been restated to correct prior period errors. 

Other reports required by the Companies Act 
As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2015, we have read the Directors’ Report, 

the Audit Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between 

these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based 

on reading these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited financial statements. However, we have 

not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

Mazars 

Partner: Shaun Vorster

Registered Auditor

17 March 2016

5 St Davids Place

Parktown

2193
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee of the Company and the Group has pleasure in submitting this report, as required by the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008.

FUNCTIONS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee has adopted formal terms of reference, delegated to it by the Board of Directors, as its Audit Committee Charter.

The Audit Committee has discharged the functions in terms of its Charter and ascribed to it in terms of the Act as follows:

• Reviewed the interim, provisional and year-end financial statements, culminating in a recommendation to the Board to adopt them. In the course 

of its review the committee:

              - takes appropriate steps to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards      

                (IFRS) and in the manner required by the Companies Act;

              - considers and, when appropriate, makes recommendations on internal financial controls; and

               - deals with concerns or complaints relating to accounting policies, internal audit, the auditing or content of annual financial statements, and  

                internal financial controls;

• Reviewed legal matters that could have a significant impact on the organisation’s financial statements;

• Reviewed the external audit reports on the annual financial statements;

• Evaluated the effectiveness of risk management, controls and governance processes;

• Reviewed a presentation by the external auditors and, after conducting its own review, confirmed the independence of the auditor;

• Approved the audit fees and engagement terms of the external auditors;

• Determined the nature and extent of allowable non-audit services and approved the contract terms for the provision of non-audit services by the 

external auditors; and

• Satisfied itself that the financial director has appropriate expertise and experience as required in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements paragraph 

3.84(h).

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS
The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors, R Arendse (chairman), A Azoulay and M Ness. All members act

independently as described in the Companies Act. Attendance of Audit Committee meetings can be found on page 11 of this report.

ATTENDANCE
The external auditors, in their capacity as auditors to the Group, attended and reported to the meetings of the Audit Committee held on

10 December 2014 and 7 October 2015. Executive directors and relevant senior managers attended the meetings by invitation.

R Arendse
Chairman

17 March 2016
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report for the year ended 30 September 2015.

GENERAL REVIEW
The main business of the Group is travel and tourism, marine and boating and financial services. The financial statements and notes thereto on pages 

21 to 72 set out fully the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Group for the year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The consolidated profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company was R56.321 million (2014: R67.990 million).

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
A schedule giving the details of the Company’s holdings in subsidiary companies, associate companies and investments in joint ventures appears in 

notes 8, and 9. The aggregate net profit of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures attributable to the Group for the year was as follows:

2015

R ‘000

2014

R ‘000

Profit for the year from subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 8 500 17 156

DIRECTORS
The directors’ names and details are presented on page 6 of this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr B Allison is Company Secretary.

LITIGATION: PENSION FUND MATTER
Summons was received in 2009. Based upon the legal opinion received, the Company is defending this action and does not consider that the matter 

has any substance. In addition, the Company has been fully indemnified. Consequently, no provision has been made for this matter other than for legal 

costs to date. This matter is fully disclosed in note 44 to the financial statements.

AUTHORISED AND ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL
There were no changes to the authorised share capital and the changes to issued share capital can be seen in note 20 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
During the year, property, plant and equipment to the value of R95.598 million (2014: R86.089 million) was acquired by the Group and R46.503 million 

(2014: R36.982 million) by the Company.

DIVIDENDS
Dividends of 2 cents per ordinary share were declared in the 2015 year (2014: 3 cents). Preference dividends of R55 000 (2014: R55 000) were declared 

and paid during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION
The remuneration of directors and prescribed officers is disclosed in note 46 to the financial statements.

INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
The directors and prescribed officers do not hold any direct or indirect interest in the Company’s ordinary share capital except through the share         

option scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS
The directors have no interest in contracts with the Company entered into during the period under review.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND GRANT OF SHARE OPTIONS
During late 2012 the directors resolved to proceed with the introduction of a share option scheme (“the 2013 scheme”) in order to align the long-term 

interests of employees (including executive directors) with those of the Company. In 2013, the scheme was approved by the JSE in accordance with the 

Listings Requirements.

All future grants of options to employees will be effected in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 2013 scheme as approved.
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HOLDING COMPANY
The Company has a holding company, Cannacord Genuity, incorporated in Guernsey.

AUDITORS
Mazars was re-elected as auditors in 2015 in terms of the Companies Act, 2008.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
The following special resolutions were passed at the Annual General Meeting held on 27 February 2015:

• Resolved that the board of directors is authorised, in terms of and subject to the provisions of section 45 of the Companies Act, to cause the 

Company to provide financial assistance to any company or corporation that is related or inter-related to Cullinan.

• Resolved that the board of directors is authorised, in terms of and subject to the provisions of section 44 of the Companies Act, to cause the 

Company to provide financial assistance to any company or corporation that is related or inter-related to Cullinan for the subscription for or 

purchase of securities in the Company or in any company or corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company.

• Resolved that the following remuneration of certain directors of the Company for their services as directors of the Company for the period from 1 

October 2014 to 30 September 2015 be and is hereby approved in accordance with section 66(9) of the Companies Act, 2008.

Chairman of the Board – nil.

Members of the Board – R20 000 per meeting attended.

Members of committee – R10 000 per meeting attended.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.

GOING CONCERN
The directors believe that the group has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the forseeable future and accordingly the consolidated 

financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors have satisfied themselves that the group is in a sound financial 

position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet the forseeable cash requirements. The directors are not aware of any new 

material changes that may adversely impact the group. The directors are also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory 

requirements or of any pending changes to legislation which may affect the group.

Michael Tollman           David Standage
Chief Executive Officer          Financial Director

17 March 2016

CONTINUED
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

Group Company

Notes

2015
R ‘000

2014

R ‘000

2015
R ‘000

2014

R ‘000

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 4 258 813 200 939 117 666 90 475

Investment properties 5 10 900 10 900 11 320 11 320

Goodwill 6 99 948 69 981 59 787 30 067

Intangible assets 7 24 321 27 513 24 320 27 512

Investment in subsidiaries 8 - - 49 810 49 810

Investment in joint ventures 9 7 054 7 946 1 784 1 784

Investment in associate companies 3 732 3 697 2 388 2 388

Loans to group companies 10 - - 69 137 41 841

Deferred tax asset 16 3 434 8 812 2 701 7 824

408 202 329 788 338 913 263 021

Current assets

Inventories 17 60 426 38 684 11 989 10 714

Trade and other receivables 18 457 647 296 767 367 578 256 449

Other financial assets 12 - 1 461 - 1 459

Current tax receivable 10 098 1 122 7 797 -

Cash and cash equivalents 19 108 631 186 057 71 823 159 497

636 802 524 091 459 187 428 119

Total assets 1 045 004 853 879 798 100 691 140

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent

Share capital 20 157 634 157 634 157 634 157 634

Reserves 22 - 26 23 005 27 017 23 709 27 506

Retained income 236 497 196 179 129 889 98 393

417 136 380 830 311 232 283 533

Non-controlling interest 3 218 4 180 - -

420 354 385 010 311 232 283 533

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Loans from group companies 10 - - 3 628 3 658

Loans from shareholders 11 70 000 - 70 000 -

Other financial liabilities 27 500 500 500 500

Operating lease liability 13 5 320 7 859 2 412 5 869

Deferred tax 16 8 881 6 288 - -

84 701 14 647 76 540 10 027

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 30 525 682 446 492 397 305 393 496

Other financial liabilities 27 2 336 - 2 336 -

Operating lease liability 13 1 729 3 078 1 112 2 024

Current tax payable 365 3 089 - 831

Provisions 28 1 556 1 213 1 556 1 213

Dividend payable 41 8 019 16 8 019 16

Bank overdraft 19 262 334 - -

539 949 454 222 410 328 397 580

Total Liabilities 624 650 468 869 486 868 407 607

Total Equity and Liabilities 1 045 004 853 879 798 100 691 140
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

Group Company

Notes

2015
R ‘000

2014

R ‘000

2015
R ‘000

2014

R ‘000

Revenue 31 926 075 941 396 554 107 554 377

Turnover 31 920 324 933 415 545 118 542 178

Cost of sales 32 (335 107) (369 011) (85 042) (102 952)

Gross profit 585 217 564 404 460 076 439 226

Operating expenses (510 239) (471 414) (402 641) (377 013)

Trading profit 33 74 978 92 990 57 435 62 213

Investment revenue 34 5 751 7 981 8 989 12 199

Income from equity accounted investments (857) 275 - -

Finance costs 35 (3 923) (354) (3 813) (200)

Profit before taxation 75 949 100 892 62 611 74 212

Taxation 36 (19 953) (29 569) (15 112) (20 045)

Profit for the year 55 996 71 323 47 499 54 167

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 37 (215) 306 - -

Effects of cash flow hedges 37 (7 856) - (7 856) -

Total items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (8 071) 306 (7 856) -

Other comprehensive income for the year net of taxation (8 071) 306 (7 856) -

Total comprehensive income for the year 47 925 71 629 39 643 54 167

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the parent 56 321 67 990 47 499 54 167

Non-controlling interest (325) 3 333 - -

55 996 71 323 47 499 54 167

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent 48 250 68 296 39 643 54 167

Non-controlling interest (325) 3 333 - -

47 925 71 629 39 643 54 167

Earnings per share

Per share information

Basic earnings per share (cents) 38 7,04 8,50

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 38 6,91 8,33
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

Group Company

Notes

2015
R ‘000

2014

R ‘000

2015
R ‘000

2014

R ‘000

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 39 60 306 119 433 23 817 84 528

Interest income 34 5 751 7 981 7 087 9 466

Dividends received 34 - - 1 902 2 733

Finance costs 35 (3 923) (353) (3 813) (199)

Tax paid 40 (23 682) (29 811) (18 617) (22 669)

Dividends paid 41 (8 000) (24 005) (8 000) (24 005)

Net cash from operating activities 30 452 73 245 2 376 49 854

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4 (95 325) (86 089) (46 230) (36 982)

Purchase of other intangible assets 7 (1 361) (7 927) (1 358) (7 927)

Proceeds on disposal of assets 5 857 6 209 969 2 721

Loans to group companies 10 - - (27 296) (24 419)

Acquisition of business 42 (75 761) (3 000) (75 761) -

Investment in joint venture 9 - (1 784) - (1 784)

Net cash from investing activities (166 590) (92 591) (149 676) (68 391)

Cash flows from financing activities

Loans from group companies 10 - - (30) (25)

Advanced shareholders loan 11 70 000 - 70 000 -

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest (637) (957) - -

Net cash from financing activities 69 363 (957) 69 970 (25)

Total cash movement for the year (66 775) (20 303) (77 330) (18 562)

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents (10 579) (360) (10 344) (388)

Cash acquired on acquisition 42 - 649 - -

Cash at the beginning of the year 185 723 205 737 159 497 178 447

Total cash at end of the year 19 108 369 185 723 71 823 159 497
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Presentation of financial statements
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as 

issued by the Accounting Practices Committee in the manner required by the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The financial statements have been prepared 

on the historical cost basis, except as noted below, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented in South African 

Rands.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Segmental reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer 

is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments.

The basis of segmental reporting has been set out in note 2

1.2 Consolidation
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the group and all entities that are controlled by the group.

The group has control of an entity when it has power over the entity; it is exposed to or has rights to variable returns from involvement with the investee; 

and it has the ability to use its power over the entity to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the effective date when Cullinan assumed control until the date 

at which control is lost.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately from the group’s interest therein, and 

are recognised within equity. Losses of subsidiaries attributable to non-controlling interests are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if this 

results in a debit balance being recognised for non-controlling interest.

Business combinations
The group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The cost of the business combination is measured as 

the aggregate of the fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued. Other costs directly attributable to the 

business combination are expensed as incurred.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities which meet the recognition conditions of IFRS 3 Business Combinations are 

recognised at their fair values at acquisition date.

Goodwill is determined as the consideration paid, plus the fair value of any shareholding held prior to obtaining control, plus non-controlling interest and 

less the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree.

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested on an annual basis for impairment. If goodwill is assessed to be impaired, that impairment is not subsequently 

reversed.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of foreign entities is considered an asset of the foreign entity. In such cases the goodwill is translated to the functional 

currency of the group at the end of each reporting period with the adjustment recognised in equity through to other comprehensive income.

Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the group has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. Significant influence is the 

power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the entity but is not control or joint control over those policies.

An investment in associate is accounted for using the equity method. 

Equity Method
Under the equity method, investments are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost adjusted for post acquisition changes in the 

group’s share of net assets of the investment, less any impairment losses.

Losses in an equity investment in excess of the group’s interest in that investment are recognised only to the extent that the group has incurred a legal 

or constructive obligation to make payments on behalf of the equity investment.

Profits or losses on transactions between the group and its equity investment are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest therein.

Joint arrangements
A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
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arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. A joint 

arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.

Joint ventures
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. 

The group accounts for its interests in joint ventures using the equity method as discussed above.

1.3 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts represented in the financial 

statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results 

in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the financial statements. Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables, Loans and receivables
The group assesses its trade receivables and loans and receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an 

impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the group makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable 

decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

Options granted
Management used the Black Scholes model to determine the value of the options at grant date. Additional details regarding the estimates are included 

in the note - Share based payments.

Fair value estimation
The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period using the 

mark to market basis. For properties, fair values are determinded by independent external valuers, based upon prevaling market rates of equivalent 

properties.

Impairment testing
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in-use calculations and 

fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the [name a key assumption] 

assumption may change which may then impact our estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill and 

tangible assets.

The group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be 

recoverable. In addition, goodwill is tested on an annual basis for impairment. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are 

largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of 

expected future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of goodwill and tangible assets are 

inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. They are significantly affected by a number of factors including [list entity specific variables,

i.e. production estimates, supply demand], together with economic factors such as [list economic factors such as exchange rates inflation interest].

Expected manner of realisation for deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided for on the fair value adjustments of investment properties based on the expected manner of recovery, i.e. sale or use. This 

manner of recovery affects the rate used to determine the deferred tax liability. Refer note 16 – Deferred tax.

Taxation
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation in South Africa and other jurisdictions in which 

their group operates. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of 

business. The group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final 

tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 

provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

The group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable that the deductible temporary 

differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax assets requires the group to make significant 

estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the 

application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability 

of the group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.
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Classification of joint arrangements
The group has joint control over Underneath Trading (Pvt) Limited, Kasane Fish Farms (Pvt) Limited t/a Chobezi and Travel Corporation Asia - Africa 

Division because the contractual arrangements set out that decisions relating to relevant activities can only be taken by unanimous consent of all parties 

to the arrangement. The directors have concluded that these arrangements are joint ventures because Cullinan Holdings only share in the profits of 

the entities.

1.4 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the group holds for its own use or for rental to others and which are expected to be used for 

more than one year.

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 

to the company, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly attributable to the acquisition.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts of property, plant and equipment are capitalised if it is 

probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the group and the cost can be measured reliably. Day to day 

servicing costs are included in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, except for land 

which is subsequently stated at fair value and buildings which are stated at fair value less accumulated depreciation.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the gross carrying amount is adjusted consistently with the revaluation of the carrying 

amount. The accumulated depreciation at that date is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and the carrying amount after 

taking into account accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by management. Depreciation is charged to write off the asset’s 

carrying amount on the straight line basis over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value.

Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale or derecognised.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Buildings Straight line 20 years

Plant and machinery Straight line 5 to10 years

Furniture and fixtures Straight line 5 to 13 years

Motor vehicles Straight line 4 to 8 years

IT equipment Straight line 3 to 4 years

Leasehold improvements Straight line Length of lease period

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ from 

previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indicator that they may be impaired. Where there is an indicator of 

impairment, the recoverable amount of that asset is determined. When the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to 

be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring the carrying amount in line 

with the recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its continued use or 

disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when the item is

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

CONTINUED
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derecognised. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the 

net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.5 Investment property
Investment properties are those properties held for capital appreciation or for rental income.

Fair value
Subsequent to initial measurement investment property is measured at fair value.

A gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is included in net profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

1.6 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and

• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

The intangible asset recognised within Cullinan relates to development costs for the travel management computer software utilised within the Inbound 

and Outbound tour operating businesses. This has been recognised as the system is in use and generating economic benefits.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every year-end.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, as follows:

Item        Useful life
Computer software       8 years

1.7 Interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

Company financial statements

In the company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are carried at cost less any accumulated

impairment.



30
Cullinan Holdings Limited

Registration Number: 1902/001808/06

1.8 Financial instruments

Classification

The group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - held for trading

• Loans and receivables

• Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - held for trading

• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained / incurred and takes place at initial recognition. 

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

The group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument 

in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, plus transaction costs.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 

being included in profit or loss for the period, unless they qualify as cash flow hedges, in which case the fair value adjustment is recognised in equity 

through other comprehensive income.

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income when the group’s right to receive payment is established.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the group has 

transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Fair value determination

The fair values of the financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss is established by using valuation techniques. These include the use 

of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing 

models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset when there is both an intention to settle on a net basis (or simultaneously) and a legal right to offset exists.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the group assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, to determine whether there is objective 

evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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For amounts due to the group, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and default of payments 

are all considered indicators of impairment.

Impairment losses are reversed in profit or loss when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event 

occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date that the impairment 

is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss within operating 

expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is made against the relevant allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 

written off are credited against operating expenses.

Financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

Included in this category are forward exchange contracts that are used by the Group to hedge its risks associated with currency fluctuations.

Forward exchange contracts are derivatives, which are classified as held for trading and carried at fair value through profit or loss. The Group does not 

have any other assets that should be classified as held for trading nor does it voluntarily designate any financial assets as being at fair value through 

profit or loss.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is calculated by reference to the current forward exchange rates with similar maturity profiles. Any gains 

or losses arising from the change in fair value, calculated as the difference between the instrument’s forward value and the forward value of a current 

instrument with a similar maturity profile, are taken directly to the statement of comprehensive income.

Where general forward exchange contracts have a positive value they are classified as financial assets and where they have a negative value they are 

classified as financial liabilities. These general forward exchange contracts do not meet the definition of a hedge in terms of IAS39 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement. However, there are specific forward contracts that do meet the definition of a hedge and these are treated as a cash 

flow hedge as seperately disclosed.

Loans to (from) group companies

These include loans to and from holding companies, fellow subsidiaries, subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.

Loans to group companies are classified as loans and receivables.

Loans from group companies are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Loans to shareholders, directors, managers and employees

These financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are classified as loans and recievables. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss 

when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 

or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is 

impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 

flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss within 

operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent  recoveries of amounts 

previously written off are credited against operating expenses in profit or loss.
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Trade and other payables

Trade payables are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 

a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are classified as loans and recievables.

Bank overdraft and borrowings

Bank overdrafts and borrowings are classified as financial liabilities at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 

and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the group’s accounting policy for 

borrowing costs.

Compound instruments

The group’s cumulative preference shares are compound instruments, consisting of a liability component and an equity component. Debt component is 

classified as a financial liability at amortised cost.

Hedging activities

Designated and effective hedging instruments are excluded from the definition of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. The group 

has designated certain derivatives as hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable transaction (cash 

flow hedge).

The group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management 

objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an 

ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of 

hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in note 15.

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining hedged item is more than 12 months, and as 

a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.

Cash flow hedge

The group has concluded specific travel contracts denominated in foreign currency. The revenue for these contracts will be recognised at a future date. 

Specific forward contracts relating to this exposure have been treated as a cash flow hedge.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised to other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss within ‘other income’.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to other comprehensive income to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or 

loss when the revenue related to the contract for which the hedge is in place is recognised.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing 

in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment through to other comprehensive income when 

the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. 

When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately recognised in profit 

or loss as a reclassification adjustment through to other comprehensive income.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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1.9 Tax

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises 

from:

• a transaction or event which is recognised to other comprehensive income, or

• a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged to other 

comprehensive income.

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior 

periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, 

using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset 

or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 

against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is 

settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legal right to do so and they relate to the same entity and same tax authority.

1.10 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. All other leases are classified as  

operating leases.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the amounts recognised 

as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset. This liability is not discounted.

1.11 Inventories

The groups inventory consists of marine supplies for boat builders within the marine segment. Within the financial services segment, inventory varies 

upon the client for which it is carried. Inventory is carried at the lower of cost and its net realisable value.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 

location and condition. The cost of inventories is assigned using the weighted average cost formula. The same cost formula is used for all inventories 

having a similar nature and use to the entity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 

necessary to make the sale. 
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When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is 

recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the 

period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, are 

recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

1.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

The group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the 

group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. There were no indications in the years presented.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the group also:

• tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually. 

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating 

units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned 

to those units or groups of units.

Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal 

management purposes, and is not larger than an operating segment before aggregation. No goodwill impairment was required in the years presented.

The group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets other than 

goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated. No such 

indicators were determined for the years presented.

1.13 Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The equity portion of the Cumulative Preference shares are classified as equity.

1.14 Share based payments

The group has two share based transactions. These consist of a once off offer of share options, which is treated as an issue for cash. The group has a 

further share option scheme. Both are disclosed in note 21.

Services received in the group’s share-based payment transaction are recognised as the services are received. A corresponding increase in equity is 

recognised if the services were received in an equity-settled share-based payment transaction or a liability if the services were acquired in a cash-settled 

share-based payment transaction.

The services received in the group’s share-based payment transaction are recognised as expenses, as they relate to payments for employee services. 

Their value and the corresponding increase in equity, are measured, indirectly, by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted.

Vesting conditions which are not market related (i.e. service conditions) are not taken into consideration when determining the fair value of the equity 

instruments granted. Instead, these are taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments included in the measurement of the transaction 

amount so that, ultimately, the amount recognised for services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted shall be based on the 

number of equity instruments that eventually vest. Market conditions, such as a target share price, are taken into account when estimating the fair value 

of the equity instruments granted. The number of equity instruments are not adjusted to reflect equity instruments which are not expected to vest or do 

not vest because the market condition is not achieved.

For cash-settled share-based payment transactions, the services acquired and the liability incurred are measured at the fair value of the liability. Until 

the liability is settled, the fair value of the liability is re-measured at each reporting date and at the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value 

recognised in profit or loss for the period.

If the share based payments granted do not vest until the counterparty completes a specified period of service, the Cullinan group accounts for those 

services as they are rendered by the counterparty during the vesting period. 

If the share based payments vest immediately the services received are recognised in full.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

CONTINUED
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1.15 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those expected to be paid within 12 months after the service is rendered) are recognised in the period in 

which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their entitlement or, in the 

case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive obligation to make such 

payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

The group are members of the Vitae Umbrella Provident Fund, a fund generated by the Pension Funds Act, 24 of 1956. Payments to the fund are 

charged as an expense as the related service is rendered.

1.16 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are disclosed in note 28.  

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 44.

1.17 Revenue

Revenue recognised by the group includes revenue from the sale of goods, commission and fees earned on travel services rendered and fees and 

interest on financial services.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

• the group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods with no further management involvement;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the group; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services include:

• Revenue in the form of commission and travel service fees is recognised either on the finalisation of the transaction (booking), or date of travel, 

dependent upon the nature of the travel agreement. When group companies acting as an agent recognise commission and fees as revenue, only 

the commission and fee income and not the value of the business are included in the revenue.

• Revenue in form of fees charged for financial services is recognised upon the initial drawdown of funds by the customer once the fee is earned 

and not refundable.

Miscellaneous revenue comprises rebates received, unbilled supplier invoices and incentives.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amount receivable for goods and services 

provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts and volume rebates, and value added tax.

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.

Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the company’s right to receive payment has been established.
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1.18 Turnover
Turnover comprises commission and fees earned for services, sales to customers and and fee charged for financial services rendered to customers. 

Turnover is recognised according to the revenue policy above.

1.19 Cost of sales
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised.

1.20 Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.21 Translation of foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the group entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 

the entity operates (functional currency).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Rand which is the company’s functional and the group’s presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate between 

the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:

• foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;

• non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 

transaction; and

• non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 

was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from those at which they were 

translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous financial statements are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, any exchange component of that 

gain or loss is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit 

or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate between 

the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.

Investments in foreign subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

The results and financial position of a foreign operation are translated into the functional currency using the following procedures:

• assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial 

position;

• income and expenses for each item of profit or loss are translated at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions; and

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated as a separate component of equity.

Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised initially to other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in the translation reserve. They will be recognised in profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment through to other 

comprehensive income on disposal of net investment.

The cash flows of a foreign subsidiary are translated at the exchange rates between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the dates of 

the cash flows.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

CONTINUED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

2. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The group has identified four reportable segments which represent the structure used by the chief executive officer to make key operating 

decisions and assess performance.

The group’s reportable segments are operating segments which are differentiated by the activities that each undertake and markets they operate 

in.

These reportable segments as well as the products and services from which each of them derives revenue are set out below:

Reportable Segment  Products and services

Travel and tourism  Wholesale, retail and coaching and touring services to local and    

  international markets. The business units included in this segment are  

  reflected on page 3 to 5.

Marine and boating  Supplies products to local yachting, power boat and scuba diving   

  industries. The business units included in this segment are reflected on  

  page 5.

Financial services  Registered credit provider - provision of credit and bridging and marine  

  finance to customers of the group. The business units included in this  

  segment are reflected on page 5.

Corporate services  Provides support to the group. The business units included in this   

  segment are reflected on page 5.

Segmental revenue and results

The chief executive officer assesses the performance of the operating segments based on the measure of trading profit. Interest income and 

expenditure are not allocated to operating segments, as this type of activity is driven by the central treasury function. The measures differ to prior 

year to align with the reporting as provided to the Chief Executive Officer. Refer to note 47 for restatement of prior year revenue.

No single customer contributes more than 10% of the group’s revenue. Transactions within the group take place on an arms length basis.

The segment information provided to the chief executive officer is presented below. 

Revenue 
from external 

customers
Intersegment 

revenue
Total segment

revenue
Trading

profit

2015

Travel and tourism 741 668 (1 537) 740 131 95 596

Marine and boating 63 351 (95) 63 256 3 237

Financial Services 121 270 1 632 122 902 16 325

Corporate services (214) - (214) (40 180)

Total 926 075 - 926 075 74 978

2014

Travel and tourism 826 798 78 826 876 132 045

Marine and boating 48 784 49 48 833 2 070

Financial Services 66 086 (127) 65 959 5 207

Corporate services (272) - (272) (46 3320

Total 941 396 - 941 396 92 990

The assets and liabilities of the group are reported to the chief executive officer on a consolidated basis.

Geographical Information
Total segment

revenue
Trading

profit

2015

South Africa 910 975 78 672

Rest of the World 15 100 (3 694)

926 075 74 978

2014

South Africa 913 641 91 617

Rest of the World 27 755 1 373

941 396 92 990
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

3. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

3.1   Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial year and that are 

relevant to its operations:

Amendment to IAS 36: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

The amendment to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets now require:

 •  Disclosures to be made of all assets which have been impaired, as opposed to only material impairments,

 •  The disclosure of each impaired asset’s recoverable amount, and

 •  Certain disclosures for impaired assets whose recoverable amount is fair value less costs to sell in line with the requirements of IFRS 13 Fair  

 Value Measurement.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2014.

The group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2015 financial statements.

No assets were impaired during the years presented therefore there was no impact.

Amendment to IFRS 2: Share-based Payment: Annual improvements project

Amended the definitions of “vesting conditions” and “market conditions” and added definitions for “performance condition” and “service 

condition.”

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 July 2014.

The group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2015 financial statements.

This amendment has no impact.

Amendment to IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement: Annual improvements project

The amendment clarifies that references to financial assets and financial liabilities in paragraphs 48–51 and 53–56 should be read as applying 

to all contracts within the scope of, and accounted for in accordance with, IAS 39 or IFRS 9, regardless of whether they meet the definitions of 

financial assets or financial liabilities in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 July 2014.

The group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2015 financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material.

Amendment to IFRS 8: Operating Segments: Annual improvements project

Management are now required to disclose the judgements made in applying the aggregation criteria. This includes a brief description of the 

operating segments that have been aggregated in this way and the economic indicators that have been assessed in determining that the 

aggregated operating segments share similar economic characteristics.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 July 2014.

The group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2015 financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material.

Amendment to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment: Annual improvements project

The amendment adjusts the option to proportionately restate accumulated depreciation when an item of property, plant and equipment is 

revalued. Instead, the gross carrying amount is to be adjusted in a manner consistent with the revaluation of the carrying amount. The accumulated 

depreciation is then adjusted as the difference between the gross and net carrying amount.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 July 2014.

The group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2015 financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material.
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3.2  Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for the 

group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 October 2015 or later periods:

Disclosure Initiative: Amendment to IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements

The amendment provides new requirements when an entity presents subtotals in addition to those required by IAS 1 in its financial statements. It 

also provides amended guidance concerning the order of presentation of the notes in the financial statements, as well as guidance for identifying 

which accounting policies should be included. It further clarifies that an entity’s share of comprehensive income of an associate or joint venture 

under the equity method shall be presented separately into its share of items that a) will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and b) 

that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.

The effective date of the group is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2016.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2017 financial statements.

The impact of this amendment is currently being assessed.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and measurements of financial assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently 

amended in October 2010 to include requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and in 

November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly 

to include a)impairment requirements for financial assets and b) limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements by 

introducing “fair value through other comprehensive income” (FVTOCI) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of IFRS 9:

•  All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are required to 

be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model whose 

objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 

the outstanding principal are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent reporting periods. Debt instruments that are 

held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that 

have contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 

outstanding principal, are measured at FVTOCI. All other debt and equity investments are measured at fair value at the end of subsequent 

reporting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of 

an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income with only dividend income generally recognised in profit 

or loss.

•  With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount 

of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability is presented in other 

comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effect of the changes of the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would 

create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in fair value of a financial liability 

designated as at fair value through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.

•  In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model 

under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit 

losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. It is therefore no longer necessary for a credit event 

to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

•  The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently available in IAS 39. 

Under IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the 

types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge 

accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has been replaced with the principal of an “economic relationship”. Retrospective assessment 

of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have also 

been introduced.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2018.

The group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2019 financial statements.

The impact of this standard is currently being assessed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction contracts; IAS 18 Revenue; IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes; IFRIC 15 Agreements for the 

construction of Real Estate; IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers and SIC 31 Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount 

that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity recognises revenue in 

accordance with that core principle by applying the following steps:

•  Identify the contract(s) with a customer

•  Identify the performance obligations in the contract

•  Determine the transaction price

•  Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

•  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

IFRS 15 also includes extensive new disclosure requirements.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2018.

The group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2018 financial statements.

The impact of this standard is currently being assessed.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

The amendment clarifies that a depreciation or amortisation method that is based on revenue that is generated by an activity that includes the 

use of the asset is not an appropriate method. This requirement can be rebutted for intangible assets in very specific circumstances as set out in 

the amendments to IAS 38.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2016.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2017 financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group’s financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 specifies how an IFRS reporter will recognise, measure, present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting 

model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a 

low value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting substantially unchanged from 

its predecessor, IAS 17.

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and applies to annual reporting periods begining on or after 1 January 2019.

The impact of this standard is currently being assessed.

 

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GROUP 2015 2014

Cost 
R ‘000

Accumulated
depreciation 

R ‘000

Carrying  
value 

R ‘000

Cost 
R ‘000

Accumulated
depreciation 

R ‘000

Carrying  
value 

R ‘000

Land 1 640 - 1 640 1 640 - 1 640

Buildings 1 280 (124) 1 156 1 280 - 1 280

Plant and machinery 6 926 (3 621) 3 305 4 817 (3 425) 1 392

Furniture and fixtures 20 615 (12 965) 7 650 16 852 (10 836) 6 016

Motor vehicles 291 571 (64 084) 227 487 229 640 (52 301) 177 339

IT equipment 22 668 (16 237) 6 431 21 015 (13 694) 7 321

Leasehold improvements 21 674 (10 530) 11 144 13 992 (8 041) 5 951

Total 366 374 (107 561) 258 813 289 236 (88 297) 200 939



41
Cullinan Holdings Limited
Registration Number: 1902/001808/06

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT CONTINUED...

COMPANY 2015 2014

Cost 
R ‘000

Accumulated
depreciation 

R ‘000

Carrying  
value 

R ‘000

Cost 
R ‘000

Accumulated
depreciation 

R ‘000

Carrying  
value 

R ‘000

Plant and machinery 4 741  (2 585) 2 156 3 394  (2 741) 653

Furniture and fixtures 19 106  (11 905) 7 201 15 708  (10 168) 5 540

Motor vehicles 119 463  (21 502)  97 961  85 605  (12 486)  73 119

IT equipment 19 629  (14 049) 5 580 19 596  (12 773) 6 823

Leasehold improvements 14 378  (9 610) 4 768 12 173  (7 833) 4 340

Total 177 317  (59 651)  117 666  136 476  (46 001) 90 475

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 

Opening 
balance 

R ‘000
 Additions 

R ‘000

 Additions through  
business  

combinations 
R ‘000

 Disposals 
R ‘000

Foreign 
exchange 

translation 
R ‘000

 Depreciation 
R ‘000

 Total 
R ‘000

Group 2015

Land 1 640 - -  - - - 1 640

Buildings 1 280  - -  - -  (124) 1 156

Plant and machinery  1 392 2 492 9  (43)  -  (545)  3 305

Furniture and fixtures  6 016  4 212 132  (105)  1  (2 606)  7 650

Motor vehicles 177 339  77 107 78  (5 432)  -  (21 605)  227 487

IT equipment 7 321  3 195 54  (107) 6  (4 038)  6 431

Leasehold improvements 5 951  8 319 -  (47)  -  (3 079)  11 144

 200 939  95 325 273  (5 734)  7  (31 997)  258 813

Group 2014

Land 1 640  -  -  -  - - 1 640

Buildings 1 280  -  -  -  - - 1 280

Plant and machinery  1 846  155  30  (12)  -  (627) 1 392

Furniture and fixtures  5 683  2 539  4  (114)  -  (2 096) 6 016

Motor vehicles  118 838  75 152  7 652  (4 835) - (19 468) 177 339

IT equipment  5 353  5 646  34  (6)  (3)  (3 703) 7 321

Leasehold improvements  5 378  2 597  -  (100)  -  (1 924) 5 951

140 018  86 089  7 720  (5 067)  (3)  (27 818) 200 939

Company 2015

Plant and machinery 653 1 797 9 (43)  -  (260)  2 156

Furniture and fixtures 5 540 4 081 132  (104) -  (2 448)  7 201

Motor vehicles 73 119 35 059 78  (930)  -  (9 365) 97 961

IT equipment 6 823 2 453 54  (107) -  (3 643) 5 580

Leasehold improvements 4 340 2 840 -  (47)  -  (2 365) 4 768

90 475 46 230 273 (1 231) -  (18 081) 117 666

Company 2014

Plant and machinery 878 88 - - -  (313) 653

Furniture and fixtures 5 169 2 458 -  (109)  - (1 978) 5 540

Motor vehicles 56 875 26 629 - (1 701) - (8 684) 73 119

IT equipment 4 781 5 419 - (2) - (3 375) 6 823

Leasehold improvements 3 850 2 388  -  (100)  -  (1 798) 4 340

71 553 36 982 -  (1 912) - (16 148) 90 475
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT CONTINUED...

The foreign exchange translation has resulted from the translation of a foreign subsidiary into SA Rand.

Freehold land comprises erven 781 and 782 in Hazyview-Vakansiedorp in extent 1,740 square metres and erf 342 in St Lucia (Extension Number 
2) in extent 1,300 square metres.

The fair market value of the land above as been determined by registered independent valuers, Holtzhuizen and Chengiah Property Valuers and 
H Tryhou Property Consultants. In determining the valuations at 30 September 2014, the valuator referred to current market conditions, recent 
sales transactions of similar properties in similar geographical locations and the present value of future rental income expected to be earned in 
respect of the properties in their current condition. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the property is their 
current use. No further valuations are deemed necessary during the year as the property values have remained relatively stable.

All disposals of assets from the sale, scrapping and replacement thereof were in the normal course of business.

5. Investment property

GROUP
2015

R’ 000
2014 

R’ 000

Valuation
 Accumulated 

depreciation
 Carrying value Valuation

 Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying  

value

Investment property  10 900  -  10 900  10 900  -  10 900

COMPANY

Valuation
 Accumulated 

depreciation
 Carrying  

value
Valuation

 Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying  

value

Investment property 11 320 - 11 320 11 320 - 11 320

Rental income and any direct operating expenses arising from investment property that generate rental income are recognised in profit or loss.

Details of valuation

The effective date of the revaluations was 30 September 2013 and 30 September 2014. Revaluations were performed by independent valuers, Penny 
Brothers Brokers & Valuers (Pty) Limited, Holthuizen and Chengiah Property Valuers and H Tryhou Property Consultants. None of these independant 
valuers are connected to the group and have recent experience in location and category of the investment properties being valued. In determining 
the valuation, the valuator referred to current market comparable sales of similar properties in similar locations. No further valuations are deemed 
necessary during the year as the property values in the areas have remained relatively stable.

The valuations were based on open market value for existing use.

Investment properties in the Group and Company consist of the following items of land and buildings:
Portion 6 of the Farm Olifantsfontein 402 JR - Clayville, Ekurhuleni, in extent of 26 ha; 
Portion 7 of the Farm Olifantsfontein 402 JR - Clayville, Ekurhuleni, in extent of 12 ha;
Portion 8.1 of the Farm Olifantsfontein 402 JR - Clayville, Ekurhuleni, in extent of 4 ha;
Erf 385 Clayville, Ekurhuleni (Extension Number 2), in extent of 1.3 ha;
Erven 781 and 782 in Hazyview-Vakansiedorp in extent of 1 740 m2*; and

Erf 342 in St Lucia (Extension Number 2), in extent of 1 300 m2*.

* These properties are classified as investment properties in the company. As these properties are leased to subsidiaries of the group, they are then     

considered owner-occupied at group level and are classified as land and buildings.

6. GOODWILL

GROUP
2015

R’ 000
2014 

R’ 000

Cost
 Accumulated 

impairment
 Carrying value Cost

 Accumulated 

impairment

Carrying  

value

Goodwill 99 948 - 99 948 69 981 - 69 981

COMPANY

Cost
 Accumulated 

impairment
 Carrying value Cost

 Accumulated 

impairment

Carrying  

value

Goodwill 59 787 - 59 787 30 067 - 30 067
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6. GOODWILL CONTINUED..

Reconciliation of goodwill continued...

Opening
balance

R ‘000

Additions  
through business  

combinations 
R ‘000

Foreign
exchange

movements 
R ‘000

Total 
R ‘000

Reconciliation of goodwill - Group 
2015

Goodwill 69 981 29 720 247 99 948

Reconciliation of goodwill - Group 
2014

Goodwill 66 758 3 000 223 69 981

Opening
balance 

R ‘000

Additions
through business

combinations 
R ‘000

Total 
R ‘000

Reconciliation of goodwill - Company 2015

Goodwill 30 067 29 720 59 787

Reconciliation of goodwill - Company 2014

Goodwill 30 067 - 30 067

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to cash generating units as follows:

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Thompsons Travel Group 1 875 1 875 1 875 1 875

Thompsons Gateway Singapore (Pty) Ltd 2 670 2 423 - -

Thompsons Africa 4 430 4 430 4 430 4 430

Thompsons Holidays 4 500 4 500 4 500 4 500

Hylton Ross Touring (Pty) Ltd 11 602 11 602 - -

Central Boating (Pty) Ltd 9 674 9 674 - -

Glacier Enterprises (Pty) Ltd 2 599 2 599 - -

Springbok Atlas Touring and Coach Charter 19 262 19 262 19 262 19 262

Silverton Travel (Pty) Ltd t/a Edusport 10 616 10 616 - -

Peak Incentives 3 000 3 000 - -

Chester Finance 29 720 - 29 720 -

99 948 69 981 59 787 30 067

 

For the Travel related business units, goodwill is tested for impairment by taking the expected future profits and applying a commercial price : 

earnings ratio to arrive at the valuation of the business. Price earnings ratio’s of between 3 - 5 x profit after tax are used as the basis of valuation. 

No impairment was identified.

For the purpose of impairment testing of the non-travel business units, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s operating divisions which represent 

the lowest cash-generating unit within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Discounted cash flow 

forecasts are done by management, and appropriate growth and discount rates, given the industry and location of the cash generating unit are 

applied to the forecast. No impairment loss was recognised for any cash generating unit.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

6. GOODWILL CONTINUED..

An average rate of revenue growth of 9% for a period of 5 years was used as the basis for the cash flow projection. A discount rate of 6% was 

applied to this to arrive at the value of the unit.

The recoverable amount has been determined using the value-in-use calculations. During the year ended 30 September 2015, no goodwill was 

impaired (2014 : nil).

Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations include budgeted margins and budgeted sales or commission streams and budgeted costs. 

Such assumptions are based on historical results adjusted for anticipated future growth. These assumptions are a reflection of management’s past 

experience in the market in which these units operate.

Based on the above assumptions, management’s calculations of recoverable amounts were greater than the carrying amounts.

Sensitivity analysis

If the revised estimated pre-tax discount rate applied to the discounted cash flows had been 10% less favourable than management’s estimates, 

the Group would need to reduce the carrying value of the goodwill by Rnil (2014 : Rnil).

If the actual profits and the pre-tax discounted rate had been more favourable than management’s estimates, the Group would not be able to 

reverse any impairment losses as IAS 36 does not permit reversing an impairment loss for goodwill.

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GROUP
2015 

R ‘000
2014 

R ‘000

Cost 
 Accumulated 

amortisation
 Carrying 

value Cost

 Accumulated 

amortisation

Carrying  

value

Computer software 35 680  (11 359)  24 321 33 435 (5 922) 27 513

COMPANY
2015 

R ‘000
2014 

R ‘000

Cost
 Accumulated 

amortisation
 Carrying 

value Cost

 Accumulated 

amortisation

Carrying  

value

Computer software 35 254  (10 933)  24 321 33 286 (5 774)  27 512

Opening  
balance 

R ‘000
 Additions 

R ‘000
 Disposals 

R ‘000
 Amortisation 

R ‘000
 Total 

R ‘000

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Group 
2015

Computer software 27 513 1 361 (7)  (4 546) 24 321

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Group  

2014

Computer software 31 041  7 927  (2 699)   (8 756) 27 513

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Company  
2015

Computer software 27 512  1 358 (7)  (4 543) 24 320

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Company  

2014

Computer software 30 993 7 927 (2 699) (8 709) 27 512

Disposals relate to software that is being phased out.
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8. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 

The following table lists the entities which are controlled by the group, either directly or indirectly through subsidiaries.

Company

Name of company
 % holding 

2015
 % holding 

2014

 Carrying  
amount  

2015

 Carrying  
amount  

2014

Cullinan Properties Limited 100,00 %  100,00 %  317  317

Thompsons Indaba Safaris KZN (Pty) Limited 75,00 %  75,00 %  *  *

Thompsons Gateway (PTE) Limited - Singapore 70,00 %  70,00 %  304  304

Hylton Ross Tours (Pty) Limited  100,00 %  100,00 % 32 019  32 019

Central Boating (Pty) Limited  100,00 %  100,00 %  *  *

Glacier Enterprises (Pty) Limited 90,00 %  90,00 %  1 170  1 170

Silverton Travel (Pty) Limited 75,00 %  75,00 %  16 000  16 000

Springbok Atlas Namibia (Pty) Limited 100,00 %  100,00 %  *  *

49 810  49 810

* Signifies an amount less than R1 000

The percentage held by non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are not considered material.

9. JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

Joint ventures

The following table lists all of the joint ventures in the group:

Group

Name of company
 % holding 

2015
 % holding 

2014

 Carrying  
amount  

2015

 Carrying  
amount  

2014

Underneath Trading (Pvt) Limited  50,00 %  50,00 %  6 055  6 516

Kasane Fish Farms (Pvt) Limited t/a Chobezi  50,00 %  50,00 %  1 980  2 130

Travel Corporation Asia - Africa Division  25,00 %  25,00 %  (981)  (700)

7 054  7 946

Material joint ventures

The following joint ventures are material to the group:

 Country of 
incorporation

 Method % Ownership interest 

2015 2014

Underneath Trading (Pvt) Limited Zimbabwe Equity  50,00 %  50,00 %

Kasane Fish Farms (Pvt) Limited t/a Chobezi Botswana Equity  50,00 %  50,00 %

Travel Corporation Asia - Africa Division  Japan Equity  25,00 %  25,00 %
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

9. JOINT ARRANGEMENTS CONTINUED...

2015 

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

Summarised statement of  
comprehensive income

Revenue 
R ‘000

 Depreciation  
and 

amortisation 
R ‘000

Interest 
income 
R ‘000

Interest 
expense 

R ‘000

Tax 
expense 

R ‘000

Profit (loss)
from 

continuing 
operations 

R ‘000

Total 
comprehensive 

income 
R ‘000

Underneath Trading (Pvt) Limited 41 354 (113) 47 - 29 (922) (922)

Kasane Fish Farms (Pvt) Limited t/a Chobezi 8 433 (610) - (355) 84 (300) (300)

Travel Corporation Asia - Africa Division  44 005 (15) - - - (1 122)  (1 122)

93 792 (738) 47 (355) 113 (2 344) (2 344)

Summarised statement of financial position 

Assets
Non-current 

assets 
R ‘000

Cash and  
cash equivalents 

R ‘000

Other current 
assets 
R ‘000

Total current 
assets 
R ‘000

Total assets 
R ‘000

Underneath Trading (Pvt) 

Limited
 4 369  2 044  15 330  17 374  21 743

Kasane Fish Farms (Pvt) 

Limited t/a Chobezi
 11 153  1 366  9 318  10 684  21 837

Travel Corporation Asia -  

Africa Division
 -  -  9 680  9 680  9 680

 15 522  3 410  34 328  37 738  53 260

Liabilities

Non-current 
financial 

liabilities* 
R ‘000

Other  
non-current 

liabilities 
R ‘000

Total  
non-current 

liabilities 
R ‘000

Current 
financial 

liabilities* 
R ‘000

Other  
current 

liabilities 
R ‘000

Total  
current 

liabilities 
R ‘000

Total  
liabilities 

R ‘000

Underneath Trading (Pvt) 

Limited
- 774 774 - 4615 4 615 5 389

Kasane Fish Farms (Pvt) 

Limited t/a Chobezi
12 142 124 12 266 7 6 922 6 929 19 195

Travel Corporation Asia -  

Africa Division
4 729 - 4 729 - 9 680 9 680 14 409

16 871 898 17 769 7 21 217 21 224 38 993

*Current and non-current financial liabilities are expressed in the table above, excluding trade and other payables and provisions.

Reconciliation of net assets to equity accounted  
investments in joint ventures

Total net  
assets 
R ‘000

% Share of 
net assets 

R ‘000

Foreign exchange 
difference 

R’000

Carrying 
value

R ‘000

Underneath Trading (Pvt) Limited  16 354 8 177 (2 122) 6 055

Kasane Fish Farms (Pvt) Limited t/a Chobezi 2 642 1 321 659 1 980

Travel Corporation Asia - Africa Division (4 729)  (1 182) 201 (981)

14 267 8 316 (1 262) 7 054
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9. JOINT ARRANGEMENTS CONTINUED...

 
2014

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

Summarised statement of  

comprehensive income
Revenue 

R ‘000

 Depreciation  
and 

amortisation 
R ‘000

Interest 
expense 

R ‘000

Tax 
expense 

R ‘000

Profit (loss)
from 

continuing 
operations 

R ‘000

Total 
comprehensive 

income 
R ‘000

Underneath Trading (Pvt) Limited 52 544 (777) - (687) 2 350 2 350

Kasane Fish Farms (Pvt) Limited t/a Chobezi 9 136 (167) (180) (198) 692 692

Travel Corporation Asia - Africa Division 60 305 - - - (2 800) (2 800)

121 985 (944) (180) (885) 242 242

Summarised statement of financial position 

Assets
Non-current 

assets 
R ‘000

Cash and  
cash equivalents 

R ‘000

Other current 
assets 
R ‘000

Total current 
assets 
R ‘000

Total assets 
R ‘000

Underneath Trading (Pvt) 

Limited
 4 685 10 010 6 518 16 528 21 213

Kasane Fish Farms (Pvt) 

Limited t/a Chobezi
3 388 76 1 798 1 874 5 262

Travel Corporation Asia -  

Africa Division
 -  - 20 282 20 282 20 282

8 073 10 086 28 598 38 684 46 757

Liabilities

Non-current 
financial 

liabilities* 
R ‘000

Other  
non-current 

liabilities 
R ‘000

Total  
non-current 

liabilities 
R ‘000

Other  
current  

liabilities 
R ‘000

Total  
current  

liabilities 
R ‘000

Total  
liabilities 

R ‘000

Underneath Trading (Pvt) 

Limited
-  484  484  4 067  4 067  4 551

Kasane Fish Farms (Pvt) Limited 

t/a Chobezi
2 686  4  2 690  1 510  1 510  4 200

Travel Corporation Asia -  

Africa Division
-  928  928  20 778  20 778  21 706

2 686  1 416  4 102  26 355  26 355  30 457

*Current and non-current financial liabilities are expressed in the table above, excluding trade and other payables and provisions.

Reconciliation of net assets to equity accounted  

investments in joint ventures

Total net  
assets 
R ‘000

% Share of 
net assets 

R ‘000

Foreign exchange 
difference 

R’000

Carrying 
value

R ‘000

Underneath Trading (Pvt) Limited  16 662 8 331 (1 815) 6 516

Kasane Fish Farms (Pvt) Limited t/a Chobezi 1 062 531 1 599 2 130

Travel Corporation Asia - Africa Division (1 424)  (356) (344) (700)

16 300 8 506 (560) 7 946

Foreign exchange differences arise as the Cullinan share of profits are recognised at the exchange rate ruling in the period earned whereas assets and 

liabilities are valued at the year end exchange rate. No adjustment is made for the difference.

The share of losses for the Travel Corporation Asia - Africa Division have been recognised as it has been agreed that the holders will finance the 

business until such time as it becomes profitable.

Reporting period 
The end of the reporting periods for the joint ventures differ to the group’s reporting period therefore the management accounts as at 30 September 

2015 have been used to reflect the summary of the joint ventures.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

10. LOANS TO (FROM) GROUP COMPANIES

Subsidiaries

Cullinan Properties Limited  (3 628)  (3 658)

The loan is interest free, unsecured and is payable on demand, 366 

days after the demand date. No payments are expected or  

required in the next 12 months.

Glacier Enterprises (Pty) Limited  69 137  41 841

The loan bears interest at current call rates earned by the group, is 

unsecured and is payable on demand, 366 days after the demand 

date. No payments are required in the next 12 months. 

 65 509  38 183

Non-current assets  69 137  41 841

Non-current liabilities  (3 628)  (3 658)

 65 509  38 183

11. LOANS TO (FROM) SHAREHOLDERS

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Travcorp Financial Services Limited (70 000) - (70 000) -

The loan bears interest at prime less 1,25%, is unsecured and has no fixed terms of repayment. No payments are expected or required in the next 12 

months. Interest is paid on a monthly basis.

The facility provided for this loan is a two year facility commencing on November 2014 and terminating in November 2016.

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 
R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 
R ‘000

12. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

At fair value through profit or loss - held for trading

Foreign exchange contract - 1 461 - 1 459

Refer to notes 15 and 49

Current assets

Held for trading (fair value through profit or loss) - 1 461 - 1 459

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at fair value, which is therefore equal to their carrying amounts. 

Forward foreign exchange contracts included in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured to fair value using quoted market 

prices (mark to market) provided by Standard Bank of South Africa Limited.
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13. OPERATING LEASE ACCRUAL

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Non-current liabilities (5 320) (7 859) (2 412) (5 869)

Current liabilities (1 729) (3 078) (1 112) (2 024)

(7 049) (10 937) (3 524) (7 893)

Operating lease accrual relates to the straight-lining of operating leases of office and retail space and vary between 3 and 10 years. Escalations vary 

between 0% and 10%.

14. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Loans and 
receivables 

R ‘000

Fair value  
through profit  

or loss - held  
for trading 

R ‘000
Total 

R ‘000

Group - 2015

Trade and other receivables 416 942 - 416 942

Cash and cash equivalents 108 631 - 108 631

525 573 - 525 573

Group - 2014

Other financial assets - 1 461 1 461

Trade and other receivables 242 624 - 242 624

Cash and cash equivalents 186 057 - 186 057

428 681 1 461 430 142

Company - 2015

Loans to group companies 69 137 69 137

Trade and other receivables 335 639 335 639

Cash and cash equivalents 71 823 71 823

476 599 476 599

Company - 2014

Loans to group companies 38 183 - 38 183

Other financial assets - 1 459 1 459

Trade and other receivables 218 255 - 218 255

Cash and cash equivalents 159 497 - 159 497

415 935 1 459 415 935
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

15. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING INFORMATION

The following information relates to derivative financial instruments included in other financial assets and other financial liabilities

2015 2014

Assets 
R ‘000

Liabilities 
R ‘000

Assets 

R ‘000

Liabilities 

R ‘000

Group

Forward foreign exchange contracts - general - 5 520 1 461 -

Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges - (7 856) - -

- (2 336) 1 461 -

Current portion - (2 336) 1 461 -

Company

Forward foreign exchange contracts - general - 5 520 1 459 -

Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges - (7 856) - -

- (2 336) 1 461 -

Current portion - (2 336) 1 461 -

Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability if the 

remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months and, as a current asset or liability, if the maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.

Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedge

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 30 September 2015 were R 137m (2014: R nil).

The company entered into a number of travel contracts denominated in foreign currency for which the revenue will be recognised in the 2016 financial 

year. These contracts were hedged and have been treated as a cash flow hedge.

These hedged highly probable forecast transactions denominated in foreign currency are expected to occur at various dates during the next 12 months. 

Gains and losses recognised in the hedging reserve in equity on forward foreign exchange contracts as of 30 September 2015 are recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction affects the statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. This is generally within 12 months from the statement of financial position date unless the gain or loss 

is included in the initial amount recognised for the purchase of fixed assets, in which case recognition is over the lifetime of the asset (5 to 10 years).

16. DEFERRED TAX

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Deferred tax asset 3 434 8 812 2 701 7 824

Deferred tax liability (8 881) (6 288) - -

Net deferred tax asset / (liability) at end of year (5 447) 2 524 2 701 7 824

Reconciliation of net deferred tax asset/ (liability)

Net deferred tax asset / (liability) at beginning of year 2 524 3 152 7 824 6 978

Deferred tax expense / (income) related to the origination and reversal of temporary differences (7 971) (628) (5 123) 846

(5 447) 2 524 2 701 7 824

Deferred tax asset comprises

Property, plant and equipment (4 157) (2 107) (4 148) (1 647)

Intangible assets (3 021) (1 317) (3 021) (1 317)

Provision for bad debts 927 886 894 796

Income received in advance 1 749 1 356 1 748 1 356

CGT on revaluation of investment properties (1 659) (1 659) (1 659) (1 659)

Other provisions 9 595 11 653 8 887 10 295

3 434 8 812 2 701 7 824
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16. DEFERRED TAX CONTINUED ...

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Deferred tax liability comprises

Property, plant and equipment (10 623) (7 414) - -

Provision for bad debts (21) (19) - -

Income received in advance 1 822 - - -

CGT on revaluation of investment properties (420) (420) - -

Other provisions 361 1 565 - -

(8 881) (6 288) - -

In the prior year annual financial statements, intangible assets were included in the property, plant and equipment. These have been separately 
disclosed in the 2015 annual financial statements to improve presentation.

Use and sales rate

The deferred tax rate applied to the fair value adjustments of investment properties is determined by the expected manner of recovery. Where 
the expected recovery of the investment property is through sale the capital gains tax rate of 18% (2014: 18%) is used. If the expected manner of 

recovery is through use the normal tax rate of 28% (2014: 28%) is applied.

17. INVENTORIES

Group Company

2015 

R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 

R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Merchandise 60 899 39 389 12 271 10 958

60 899 39 389 12 271 10 958

Inventories – write-downs (473) (705) (282) (244)

60 426 38 684 11 989 10 714

Inventories expensed during the year 126 254 90 511 25 755 23 810

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Financial instruments

Trade receivables 363 815 211 901 238 833 163 066

Group receivables - - 64 096 43 167

Sundry receivables 53 127 30 723 32 710 12 022

416 942 242 624 335 639 218 255

Non-financial instruments

Value-added Tax 6 633 3 868 3 815 2 245

Prepayments 29 597 38 169 25 384 25 708

Payments in advance 2 224 3 219 1 946 2 970

Deposits 2 251 8 887 794 7 271

40 705 54 143 31 939 38 194

457 647 296 767 367 578 256 449

Trade receivables for the financial divisions are interest bearing and terms range from 30 - 120 days. 
Trade receivables for all other divisions are non-interest bearing and terms range from 30 - 45 days. 
Due to the short term nature of trade and other receivables, the carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of their fair value.

Credit quality of trade and other receivables

The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are assessed by reference to the credit quality of 
customers, taking into account their financial position, past experience and other factors.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED...

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

1 month past due date 24 562 38 625 17 666 36 384

2 months past due date 12 736 14 058 10 656 10 754

3 months past due date 20 480 23 844 18 390 19 918

Trade and other receivables impaired

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in operating expenses in profit or loss. 

Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of loan mentioned above. The group does not hold any collateral 

as security.

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

Opening balance 4 222 5 565 3 794 2 896

Provision for impairment 830 1 446 1 057 1 078

Amounts written off as uncollectable (633) (2 789) (597) (180)

4 419 4 222 4 254 3 794

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 1 446 1 591 344 310

Bank balances 107 185 184 466 71 479 159 187

Bank overdraft (262) (334) - -

108 369 185 723 71 823 159 497

Current assets 108 631 186 057 71 823 159 497

Current liabilities (262) (334) - -

108 369 185 723 71 823 159 497

20. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised

Ordinary share capital

3 412 375 874 Ordinary shares of 1 cent each 34 125 34 125 34 124 34 124

Preference share capital

500 000 5.5% Cumulative preference shares of R2 each 1 000 1 000 1 000 1 000

42 604 574 redeemable preference shares of R2 each 4 4 4 4

100 000 variable rate redeemable cumulative preference shares of 

1 cent each
1 1 1 1

100 000 convertible variable rate cumulative redeemable 

preference shares of R85 each
8 500 8 500 8 500 8 500

25 000 Cumulative redeemable convertible preference

shares of 1 cent each
* * * *

9 505 9 505 9 505 9 505

* Signifies an amount less than R1 000
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Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

20. SHARE CAPITAL continued...

Issued Shares

Ordinary Share Capital

Shares at the beginning of the period (792 701 552) 8 002 7 927 8 002 7 927

Ordinary shares issued (7 471 833) (note 42) - 75 - 75

Shares at the end of the period (800 173 385) 8 002 8 002 8 002 8 002

Preference share capital

500 000 5.5% Cumulative preference shares of R2 each 546 546 546 546

Share Premium

Share premium at the beginning of the period 149 086 140 942 149 086 140 942

Ordinary shares issued - share premium - 8 144 - 8 144

Balance at the end of the period 149 086 149 086 149 086 149 086

The cumulative preference shareholders are entitled to the preference share only in the event of a winding up.

21. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

Share options Share option scheme

Number
Exercise price  

(cents) Number
Exercise price  

(cents)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 11 215 000 10 9 290 000 90

Forfeited during the year (530 000) 10 (955 000) 90

Outstanding at the end of the year 10 685 000 10 8 335 000 90

Share Options

The Company entered into an arrangement to issue a number of share options to staff in November 2012. In terms of the JSE requirements, this 

issue was considered as an issue of cash.

These share options are granted to selected employees. The exercise price of the granted options is equal to 10 cents per option. Options are 

conditional on the employee completing either four or five year’s of service (the vesting period). The options are exercisable after the vesting 

period from the grant date. The group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash. When the options are 

exercised the participants will receive shares equal in value to the number of options exercised. 

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry date and exercise prices:

Exercise price 
(cents)

Number of 
options

outstanding

2013 - -

2014 - -

2015 - -

2016 10 3 050 000

2017 10 7 635 000

10 685 000

As this was a once off offer of shares, there are no further shares allocated in terms of this arrangement.
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21. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED...

Share Option Scheme

These share options are granted to selected employees. The exercise price of the granted options is equal to 90 cents per option. Options are 

conditional on the employee completing either four or five year’s of service (the vesting period). The options are exercisable after the vesting 

period from the grant date. When the options are excercised the participants will receive shares equal in value to the number of options exercised. 

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry date and grant prices:

Exercise price 
(cents)

Number of 
options

outstanding

2014 - -

2015 - -

2016 - -

2017 90 1 395 000

2018 90 6 940 000

90 8 335 000

Number of share options held by Directors

Average exercise 
price in cents 

per share

Number of 
options at  

30 Sep 2015

Average exercise 
price in cents 

per share

Number of 
options at  

30 Sep 2014

D Standage

Opening balance 90 250 000 - -

Options granted - - 90 250 000

Balance 90 250 000 90 250 000

L Pampallis -

Opening balance 90 250 000 - -

Options granted - - 90 250 000

Balance 90 250 000 90 250 000

No share options were exercised or expired during the period.

Fair value was determined by the Black Scholes valuation model. The following inputs were used:

• The share price ruling on the last day of the period - 160 cents

• Exercise price - 10 cents and 90 cents,

• A volatility percentage of 82%,

• The remaining option life,

• The risk-free interest rate of 8.45%,

• A forfeit rate of 5% per anum.

Total expenses of R 4.059m (2014: R 4.401m) related to equity-settled share based payments transactions were recognised in 2015 and 2014 

respectively.

22. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE

Translation reserve comprises exchange differences on consolidation of foreign subsidiaries.

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

(1 574) (1 359) - -
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23. HEDGING RESERVE

Hedging reserve comprises exchange differences on forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges.

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

(7 856) - (7 856) -

24. REVALUATION RESERVE

The revaluation reserve is the revaluation of the investment properties held by the company but leased to the group’s subsidiaries and allocated to land 

and buildings on consolidation. No revaluations were applicaple for the period.

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

870 870 - -

25. SHARE BASED PAYMENT RESERVE

The reserve for own shares is the expense incurred for the issue of share options to employees (note 21).

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Opening balance 6 626 2 225 6 626 2 225

Share option expense for the year 4 059 4 401 4 059 4 401

Closing Balance 10 685 6 626 10 685 6 626

26. SHARE CAPITAL REDUCTION AND REDEMPTION RESERVE

In terms of section 84 of the Companies Act of 1973, an Order of Court was made in 1997 to reduce the issued ordinary share capital of the Company.

The existing shares were reduced from ordinary shares with a par value of 50 cents each to ordinary shares of 1 cent each. The remaining capital of 

49 cents per share was transferred to a non-distributable reserve to be treated as share premium. No distribution to shareholders resulted from this 

reduction in share capital.

The capital redemption reserve fund was created on 1 June 1998 as a result of the redemption of redeemable preference shares of 0.01 cent each.

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Share capital reduction reserve 20 876 20 876 20 876 20 876

Capital redemption reserve 4 4 4 4

20 880 20 880 20 880 20 880
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27. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

At fair value through profit or loss

Foreign exchange contract 2 336 - 2 336 -

Refer to notes 15 and 49

Held at amortised cost

Redeemable preference shares 500 500 500 500

Refer to note 20

2 836 500 2 836 500

Non-current liabilities

At amortised cost 500 500 500 500

Current liabilities

Fair value through profit or loss 2 336 - 2 336 -

2 836 500 2 836 500

Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at fair value, which is therefore equal to their carrying amounts.

Forward foreign exchange contracts included in financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are measured to fair value using quoted market 

prices (mark to market) provided by Standard Bank of South Africa Limited.

Other financial liabilities held at amortised cost

Financial liabilities held at amortised cost approximate their fair value.

28. PROVISIONS

Opening
balance

Additions
Utilised during  

the year
Total

Reconciliation of provisions - Group - 2015

Other provisions 1 213 567 (224) 1 556

Reconciliation of provisions - Company - 2015

Other provisions 1 213 567 (224) 1 556

Legal fee provisions relate to provisions made for legal fees in the pension fund matter (note 44).

Medical provisions relate to future medical aid contributions for two retired staff based upon their expected future life.



57
Cullinan Holdings Limited
Registration Number: 1902/001808/06

29. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost

Fair value through  
profit or loss -  

held for trading
Total

Group - 2015

Loans from shareholders 70 000 - 70 000

Other financial liabilities 500 2 336 2 836

Trade and other payables 402 656 - 402 656

Bank overdraft 262 - 262

Dividends payable 8 019 - 8 019

481 437 2 336 483 773

Group - 2014

Other financial liabilities 500 - 500

Trade and other payables 305 104 - 305 104

Bank overdraft 334 - 334

Dividends payable 16 - 16

305 954 305 954

Company - 2015

Loans from group companies 3 628 - 3 628

Loans from shareholders 70 000 - 70 000

Other financial liabilities 500 2 336 2 836

Trade and other payables 289 189 - 289 189

Dividends payable 8 019 - 8 019

371 336 2 336 373 672

Company - 2014

Other financial liabilities 500 500

Trade and other payables 285 576 285 576

Dividends payable 16 16

286 092 286 092

 

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Financial instruments

Trade creditors 402 656 305 104 289 189 285 576

Non-financial instruments

Value-added Tax 1 465 1 154 656 689

Deposits 55 911 49 242 54 373 48 423

Accruals 65 550 90 992 53 087 58 808

122 926 141 388 108 116 107 920

525 582 446 492 397 305 393 496

Due to the short term nature of trade and other payables, the carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of their fair value.
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Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

31. REVENUE

Sale of goods 158 420 106 395 26 657 19 854

Rendering of services 653 400 734 050 413 167 435 366

Interest received (trading) 12 062 - 12 062 -

Miscellaneous other revenue 96 462 92 970 93 232 86 958

Turnover 920 344 933 415 545 118 542 178

Investment revenue 5 731 7 981 8 989 12 199

926 075 941 396 554 107 554 377

In order to improve presentation, the categories of revenue have been expanded to include miscellaneous and other revenue, which had previously 

been presented within sale of goods or rendering of services.

Refer to note 47 for information on prior year restatement

32. COST OF SALES

Sale of goods

Cost of goods sold 119 632 81 648 19 131 14 948

Rendering of services

Cost of services 215 475 287 363 65 911 88 004

335 107 369 011 85 042 102 952

Refer to note 47 for information on prior year restatement.

33. TRADING PROFIT

Trading profit for the year is stated after accounting for the 

following:

Profit / (loss) on disposal of assets 117 (1 557) (269) (1 890)

Operating lease charges:

Premises 44 249 41 024 35 653 32 032

Equipment 872 856 692 627

45 121 41 880 36 345 32 659

Rentals received on investment properties - - 133 133

Foreign exchange gains 31 632 37 164 30 443 33 098

Employee costs (including directors’ fees):

Short-term 281 571 273 623 238 525 211 606

Post-employment 11 497 9 906 9 642 7 079

293 068 283 529 248 167 218 685
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Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

34. INVESTMENT REVENUE

Dividend revenue

Subsidiaries - Local - - 1 902 2 733

Interest revenue

Subsidiaries loans - - 4024 2 194

Bank 4 123 7 900 3 021 7 270

Other Interest received on financial instruments 1 628 81 42 2

5 751 7 981 7 087 9 466

5 751 7 981 8 989 12 199

35. FINANCE COSTS

Shareholders loan 3 751 - 3 751 -

Preference dividends 55 55 55 55

Bank 33 73 6 43

Late payment of tax 2 223 - 101

Other interest paid on financial instruments 82 3 1 1

3 923 354 3 813 200

36. TAXATION

Current South African normal taxation 11 982 28 941 9 989 20 891

11 982 28 941 9 989 20 891

The rate of taxation is reconciled as follows: % % % %

Standard corporate taxation rate 28.00 28.00 28.00 28.00

Disallowable expenditure - restraint of trade 0.37 - 0.45 -

Disallowable expenditure - other 0.08 0.46 0.06 0.33

Exempt income / losses - dividends - - (0.85) (1.03)

Exempt income / losses - other 0.06 (0.30) - (0.29)

Cash flow hedge (2.90) - (3.51) -

Rate change - 0.06 - -

Initial recognition of prior year taxes (2.73) 1.70 - -

Tax attributable to associate / joint venture income 0.32 (0.11) - -

Tax adjustment for foreign taxation rates 3.08 (0.50) - -

Effective rate 26.27 29.31 24.14 27.01
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37. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Gross Tax Net

Components of other comprehensive income - Group - 2015

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations

Exchange differences arising during the year (215) - (215)

Effects of cash flow hedges

Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges arising during the year (7 856) - (7 856)

Total items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (8 071) - (8 071)

Components of other comprehensive income - Group - 2014

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations

Exchange differences arising during the year 306 - 306

Components of other comprehensive income - Company - 2015

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Effects of cash flow hedges

Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges arising during the year (7 856) - (7 856)

Cash flows related to the above are expected to occur between December 2015 and November 2016. The profit or loss will be recognised when 

revenue related to these transactions are realised.

38. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing profit or loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Group

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Basic earnings per share

From continuing operations (cents per share) 7,04 8,50

Reconciliation of profit for the year to date to basic earnings

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 56 321 67 990

Diluted earnings per share

From continuing operations (cents per share) 6,91 8,33
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38. EARNINGS PER SHARE CONTINUED....

The earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are the same as those used to calculate basic earnings per share. 

Group

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Reconciliation of weighted average number of
ordinary shares used for earnings per share to
weighted average number of ordinary shares used
for diluted earnings per share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used for

basic earnings per share
800 173 385 800 173 385

Adjusted for:

Possible shares to be issued as share based payments (note 21) 15 048 090 16 119 448

Diluted weighted average number of shares 815 221 475 816 292 833

Headline earnings per share and diluted headline earnings per share are determined by dividing headline earnings by the weighted average and 

diluted weighted average number of ordinary share outstanding during a period.

Headline earnings per share (cents) 7,03 8,64

Diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 6,90 8,47

Reconciliation between earnings and headline earnings

Basic earnings 56 321 67 990

Adjusted for:

(Profits) / losses on disposal of property, plant and equpment (116) 1 557

Tax effect thereon 32 (436)

Headline Earnings 56 237 69 111

Dividends per share

Dividends per share (cents) 2,00 3,00

39. CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) OPERATIONS

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Operating profit 74 978 92 990 57 435 62 213

Adjustments for:

Unrealised foreign exchange (profit) / losses 6 730 (1 227) 6 283 (1 289)

Depreciation and amortisation 36 543 36 574 22 624 24 857

(Profit) / loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (117) 1 557 269 1 890

Share-based payment expense 4 059 4 401 4 059 4 401

Movements in operating lease accruals (3 888) 302 (4 369) (1 421)

Movements in provisions (343) 223 343 194

Changes in working capital:

Inventories (21 734) (9 557) (1 275) (1 502)

Trade and other receivables (115 112) (28 747) (65 361) (35 638)

Trade and other payables 79 190 22 917 3 809 30 823

60 306 119 433 23 817 84 528



62
Cullinan Holdings Limited

Registration Number: 1902/001808/06

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

40. TAX PAID

Balance at beginning of the year (1 967) (2 837) (831) (2 609)

Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss (11 982) (28 941) (9 989) (20 891)

Balance at end of the year (9 733) 1 967 (7 797) 831

(23 682) (29 811) (18 617) (22 669)

41. DIVIDENDS PAID

Balance at beginning of the year  (16)   (16) (16) (16)

Dividends (16 003) (24 005) (16 003) (24 005)

Balance at end of the year 8 019 16 8 019 16

(8 000) (24 005) (8 000) (24 005)

42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Springbok Atlas Namibia (Pty) Limited

On 01 October 2013 the group acquired 100% of the voting equity interest of Springbok Atlas Namibia (Pty) Limited which resulted in the group 

obtaining control over Springbok Atlas Namibia (Pty) Limited. Springbok Atlas Namibia (Pty) Limited is principally involved in the coach charter and 

touring industry throughout Namibia, as well as running commuter transport for certain clients.

The business was acquired as part of the larger transaction in which Cullinan acquired the tourism interests of Imperial Holdings Limited. 

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed

2014 

R ‘000

Property, plant and equipment 7 720

Trade and other receivables 1 911

Cash and cash equivalents 649

Trade and other payables (2 061)

Net Asset Value 8 219

Acquisition date fair value of consideration paid

Issue of shares – 7 471 833 ordinary shares in company (8 219)
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS CONTINUED...

Receivables acquired

Receivables acquired per major recoverable class are as follows, as at acquisition date:

Group
2014 

R ‘000

Fair value

Gross 

contractual 

amounts

Contractual 

amounts not 

expected to 

be recovered

Trade and other receivables 1 911 1 911 -

Revenue and profit or (loss) of Springbok Atlas Namibia (Pty) Limited

Revenue of R 14 052 000 (2014: R19 861 000) and profit of R 288 000 (2014: R357 000) of Springbok Atlas Namibia (Pty) Limited have been included 

in the group’s results for the current period.

No external acquisition costs were incurred.

Peak Incentives

On 01 March 2014 Silverton Travel (Pty) Limited t/a Edusport, a 75% owned subsidiary of the company acquired the business of Peak Incentives which 

resulted in the group obtaining control over Peak Incentives.

Peak Incentives is a specialist incentive organiser focusing on blue chip corporate clientele.

The acquisition consisted primarily of the staff and intellectual capital of the business, which cannot be separately recognised.

Edusport currrently have a division focusing on incentives and the merger of the Peak and Edusport incentives business will provide the combined 

business with scale, better efficiencies and improved business practices.

Goodwill of R 3 000 000 arising from the acquisition consists largely of the intellectual capital synergies and economies of scale expected from 

combining the operations of the entities as mentioned above. 

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed

2014 

R ‘000

Goodwill 3 000

Acquisition date fair value of consideration paid

Cash (3 000)

Revenue and profit or loss of Peak Incentives

As the business has been fully integrated with Silverton Travel (Pty) Limited, the revenue and profit are no longer separately recorded. (2014 : Revenue 

R1 549 000, Profit (R192 000))

Chester Finance

On 01 October 2014 the company acquired the trade finance business from Chester Financial Services (Pty) Limited.

The aquisition included the trade name, business, client base and facilities with related securities, the staff and intellectual capital and the local book 

debt. The business will trade under the name of Chester Finance - a division of Cullinan Holdings Limited.

The trade name, client base and client facilities have not been separately recognised from goodwill as it was considered that the trade name has no 

identifiable value, and client base and facilities do not provide Cullinan with a contractual right of any value.

Chester was acquired in line with the group strategy to expand into the financial services sector and will provide the group with

additional skills and expertise in this area.

Goodwill of R 29 720 000 arising from the acquisition consists largely of the synergies and economies of scale mentioned above. 
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS CONTINUED...

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Group and Company

2015 
R ‘000

Property, plant and equipment 273

Trade and other receivables 45 768

Total identifiable net assets 46 041

Goodwill 29 720

Purchase consideration paid 75 761

Acquisition date fair value of consideration paid

Cash (75 761)

Receivables acquired

Receivables acquired per major recoverable class are as follows, as at acquisition date:

Group and Company 2015

Fair value
Gross 

contractual 
amounts

Contractual 
amounts not 
expected to 

be recovered

Trade and other receivables 45 768 45 768 -

The full amount of trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered.

Acquisition related costs

The acquisition related costs amounted to R 2 792 000. These costs have been expensed in the year of acquisition.

Revenue and profit or loss of Chester Finance

Revenue of R 24 297 993 and profit before tax of R 6 231 000 of Chester Finance have been included in the group’s results since the date of acquisition.

43. COMMITMENTS 

Authorised capital expenditure

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Already contracted for but not provided for 14 000 - 14 000 -

Not yet contracted for and authorised by directors 19 993 84 265 15 043 35 457

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)

Minimum lease payments due

- within one year 24 501 34 111 17 528 27 367

- in second to fifth year inclusive 48 311 53 673 25 003 22 182

- later than five years 14 784 13 858 3 511 -

87 596 101 642 46 042 49 549

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the group for certain of its office properties. No contingent rent is payable.
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43. COMMITMENTS CONTINUED...

Group Company

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Guarantees

Bank guarantees in favour of creditors 12 720 10 410 12 720 10 360

The Group provides guarantees through their banks which are to secure credit facilities and as security for leased premises to airlines, customs, parks 

boards and other suppliers.

44. CONTINGENCIES 

Pension fund matter

In 1999, the Company received R3.85 million from surplus distribution of one of its pension funds. During the same period, one of its then subsidiaries, 

Midmacor Industries Limited, received a surplus distribution of R38 million from the same pension fund. The Financial Services Board has investigated 

these transactions and the Company has co-operated fully in this regard and will continue to do so. These transactions form the subject matter of the 

legal action referred to in the penultimate paragraph of this note.

During March and April 2002, and as part of a larger transaction in terms of which Midmacor Industries Limited and associated companies were sold by 

the Company, an indemnity was given to the Company by various parties in relation to the 1999 pension fund distributions. At the same time a transaction 

was concluded which resulted in a change of control of the Company. The new controlling shareholder, who had no previous interest in the Company 

or involvement with the pension funds, secured indemnity referred to above as part of the sale transaction. These indemnities will be relied upon in the

event of a claim being successful against the Company.

Legal action has been instituted by the liquidator of the Powerpack Pension Fund (in liquidation) against the Company and various other defendants 

in relation to the alleged unlawful withdrawal during the period 1998 to September 1999 of pension fund surpluses in respect of the pension fund 

established by the Company. The claim is for an amount of approximately R58 million alternatively R42 million plus interest thereon. Based on legal 

advice obtained, the Company has a sound defence to the claim, and the matter is being defended. In addition, the Company has joined certain other 

persons in the proceedings with a view to the Company obtaining indemnification from them, inter alia, in terms of the written indemnity agreement 

referred to above, in the event of any liability on the part of the Company being established in respect of the claim.

No provision has been made for the above other than for legal costs to date.

45. RELATED PARTIES

Relationships

Holding company Cannacord Genuity

Subsidiaries Refer to note 8

Joint ventures Refer to note 9

Associates Paddle Safaris (Pvt) Limited

Members of key management
Key management personnel are considered to consist of all the directors of the company listed on 

page 6 of this report and senior management within the group.

Related party transactions

Group

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Interest paid to (received from) related parties

Shareholders 3 751 -

Subsidiaries (4 024) (2 194)

Purchases from (sales to) related parties

Subsidiaries (472) (2 950)

Joint ventures 12 711 6 332

Rent paid to (received from) related parties

Motolla Property Investments (Pty) Limited 20 005 16 136

Motolla Property Investments (Pty) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Travel Corporation.

Outstanding balances

Refer to note 10 and 11 for related party balances.
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46. DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS

Salary 
R ‘000

Performance 
bonus 
R ‘000

Directors 
fees 

R ‘000

Contribution 
to retirement 

funds 
R ‘000

Share 
appreciation 

rights 
R ‘000

Total 
R ‘000

2015

Executive

M Tollman 1 481 102 - - - 1 583

D Standage 1 441 375 - 52 53 1 921

L Pampallis 1 798 80 - 64 53 1 995

Non-executive 

R Arendse - - 190 - - 190

S Nhlumayo - - 60 - - 60

Prescribed officers

B Allison 1 092 500 - 37 - 1 629

Key Management 13 929 6 361 - 923 1 174 22 387

2014

Executive

M Tollman 1 657 100 - - - 1 757

D Standage 1 374 329 - 47 49 1 799

L Pampallis 1 860 143 - 58 49 2 110

Non-executive 

R Arendse - - 130 - - 130

S Nhlumayo - - 40 - - 40

Prescribed officers

B Allison 870 206 - 29 - 1 105

Key Management 10 597 8 983 - 736 1 181 21 497

M Ness, D Hosking, G Tollman and A Azoulay did not earn emoluments during the year.

All directors’ emoluments are paid by the company.

 

M Tollman, L Pampallis and D Standage have employment contracts with the Company, the terms of which are similar to standard employment 

contracts entered into with other employees.

47. PRIOR PERIOD ERRORS

In the 2014 annual financial statements, the commission on tour sales earned by Silverton Travel (Pty) Limited was reflected as turnover. This is 

consistent with the manner in which all of the Cullinan travel and tourism businesses treat turnover. However, it has been determined that in the case 

of Silverton Travel (Pty) Limited, the business acts as a principal in most transactions and in order to more correctly reflect this, the decision was made 

to reflect gross invoiced sales as turnover in 2015. The adjustment to turnover is offset by an equivalent increase in the cost of sales.

The restatement has no effect on earnings and is reflected within the travel and tourism segment for the group (note 2).

The correction of the error results in adjustments as follows:

Group

2015 
R ‘000

2014 

R ‘000

Profit or Loss

Turnover - 105 034

Cost of sales - (105 034)
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48. RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital risk management

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for 

shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings (excluding derivative financial liabilities) disclosed in notes 10, 11 & 27 

cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 19, and equity as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 

issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the group monitors capital on the basis of the total borrowings as a percentage of equity. The debt/equity rate at 

year end was 16.65% (2014: nil). Based upon guidance provided by the company bankers, the group has a debt/equity capacity of between 35% - 48%. 

The group is therefore of the opinion that it is meeting its capital management objectives.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital or, the strategy for capital maintenance.

Financial risk management

The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity 

risk.

The group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on 

the group’s financial performance. The group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. Risk management is carried out by 

a central treasury department (group treasury) under policies approved by the board. Group treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks 

in close co-operation with the group’s operating units. The board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies 

covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial 

instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.

Liquidity risk

The group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The group manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review 

of future commitments and credit facilities.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequate utilised borrowing facilities are monitored.

The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 

the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 

undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Group

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

At 30 September 2015 Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years

Borrowings - 70 000 -

Derivative financial instruments 

Preference shares

115 680
-

20 662
-

-
500

Trade and other payables 402 656 - -

Bank overdraft 262 - -

Preference dividends 16 - -

At 30 September 2014

Preference shares - - 500

Trade and other payables 305 104 - -

Bank overdraft 334 - -

Preference dividends 16 - -
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48. RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED...

Company

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

At 30 September 2015 Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years

Borrowings - 70 000 -

Derivative financial instruments

Preference shares

115 680
-

20 662
-

-
500

Trade and other payables 289 189 - -

Loans from subsidiaries - 3 628 -

Preference dividends 16 - -

At 30 September 2014

Preference shares - - 500

Trade and other payables 285 576 - -

Loans from subsidiaries - 3 658 -

Preference dividends 16 - -

Interest rate risk

The group is exposed to interest rate fluctuations on its bank balances, preference shares and long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates 

expose the group to cash-flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the group to cash-flow interest rate risk.

During the year the company entered into a loan from its major shareholder and hence has been exposed to interest rate risk of these borrowings. The 

group’s borrowings are denominated in Rand and the group has not entered into any derivative contracts to limit this exposure.

Effective interest rate on cash on call is 6.25 % (2014: 5%).

At 30 September 2015, if interest rates had been 1% higher (2014: 1%), or 1% lower (2014: 1%), with all other variables held constant, post tax profit would 

have been R 301 000 (2014: R1 536 000) higher and lower for the group respectively.

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis other than trade debtors which is managed by the units.

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade debtors. The company only deposits cash with 

major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis. If customers are 

independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking 

into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with 

limits set by the credit committee. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. Sales to retail customers are settled in cash or using major credit 

cards. Credit guarantee insurance is purchased when deemed appropriate.

Through the acquistion of Chester Finance, the credit risk profile of the group altered. Credit risk in this unit is managed as follows:

• The board has set prudential limits for all clients

• All facilities offered are fully secured

• The credit committee meets weekly

The company is exposed to a number of guarantees for credit provided by suppliers. 

Foreign exchange risk

The group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US 

dollar and the Euro. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign 

operations.

Management has set up a policy to require group companies to manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional currency. Foreign exchange 

risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional 

currency. 

Group companies exposed to foreign exchange risk for liabilities are required to hedge their entire foreign exchange risk exposure.
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48. RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED...

Group companies whose sale transactions are denominated in foreign currencies manage their foreign exchange risk arising from confirmed commercial 

transactions by hedging the entire exposure. Future commercial transactions are hedged on an individual basis dependant on assessment of future 

materialisation.

Foreign currency exposure at the end of the reporting period

Group

2015
R ‘000

2014

R ‘000

Current assets - cash balances

GBP 40 35

USD 1 124 3 601

EUR 48 190

Current assets - trade debtors

GBP 47 27

USD 1 111 3 427

EUR 61 49

Current liabilities - trade payables

GBP (126) (73)

MUR (40 350) (31 174)

USD (2 954) (12 109)

EUR (1 206) (1 080)

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:

GBP 20.8889 17.3060

MUR 0.3895 0.3495

USD 13.8205 11.0078

EUR 15.4289 13.7129

Forward exchange contracts which relate to future commitments

Maturity date range 

(from - to)

Maturity rate range 

(from - to)

Contracts

to buy

Contracts

to sell

Net

Commitment

GBP 30/10/2015 31/12/2015 19.88 21.52 92 92

MUR 30/10/2015 29/01/2016 0.35 0.40 40 635 40 635

USD 18/10/2015 29/04/2016 12.19 14.37 2 598 (4 005) (1 407)

EUR 30/10/2015 30/12/2016 13.53 16.99 1 073 (5 300) (4 227)

The group reviews its foreign currency exposure, including commitments on an ongoing basis. The company expects its foreign exchange contracts to 

hedge foreign exchange exposure.
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48. RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED...

Sensitivity Analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in exchange rates, with all other variables held consistant, of the 

Group’s profit before tax due to changes in the fair value of forward exchange to which the entity has significant exposure. 

Year-end spot rate
R ’000

Rand appreciation/
(depreciation) %

Effect on Group
R ’000

2015

- GBP 20.8889 10
(10)

(54)
(54)

- MRU 0.3895 10
(10)

(11)
11

- USD 13.8205 10
(10)

3353
(3353)

- EUR 15.4289 10
(10)

8233
(8233)

2014

- GBP 17.3060 10
(10)

(116)
116

- MRU 0.3495 10
(10)

(7)
7

- USD 11.0078 10
(10)

10 567
(10 567)

- EUR 13.7129 10
(10)

(189)
189

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2015
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49. FAIR VALUE INFORMATION

Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair value. The different levels are defined as follows: 

Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the group can access at measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Group Company

Note

2015
R ‘000

2014

R ‘000

2015
R ‘000

2014

R ‘000

Levels of fair value measurement

Level 2

Recurring fair value measurements

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - held for trading

Foreign exchange contracts 13 - 1 461 - 1 459

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Foreign exchange contracts 28 2 336 - 2 336 -

Total (2 336) 1 461 (2 336) 1 459

Level 3

Recurring fair value measurements

Assets

Investment property

Investment property 5 10 900 10 900 11 320 11 320

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 4 2 920 2 920 - -

Total 13 820 13 820 11 320 11 320

Details of fair valuations are included in the relevant item notes.

Transfers of assets and liabilities within levels of the fair value hierarchy

There have been no transfers between the levels.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ ANALYSIS

An analysis of the shareholding at 30 September 2015 as required by the JSE is as follows:

ORDINARY SHARES Ordinary shares

Total number of securities in issue 800 173 385

Type of shareholder

Number of

shareholders

Number of 

securities 

held

%

securities 

held

Public 716 25 978 343 3.25

Non-public 2 774 195 042 96.75

Total 718 800 173 385 100.00

ANALYSIS OF NON-PUBLIC ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS
Number of 

shareholders

Number of 

securities 

held

%

securities held

Options to 

subscribe  

for ordinary 

shares

Directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries 0 0 0 0

Any person who is interested in 10% or more of the securities
of the relevant class. 2 774 195 042 96.75 0

Any associates of the above 0 0 0 0

Holding % holding

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS
Holding less than 5% 25 978 343 3.25

NON-PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS

Cannacord Genuity 617 956 383 77.22

BB Inv Co (Pty) Ltd 156 238 659 19.53

Holding less than 5% 0 0

774 195 042 96.75

Total 800 173 385 100.00

5.5% CUMULATIVE PREFERENCE SHARES

5.5%

cumulative

preference

shares

Total number of securities in issue 500 000

Type of shareholder

Number of

shareholders

Number of 

securities held

%

securities held

Public 47 500 000 100.00

Non-public 0 0 0

Total 47 500 000 100.00

PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS Holding % holding

Charles Forsdick Enterprises CC 259 593 51.92

Old Sillery Pty Ltd 150 128 30.03

Holding less than 5% 90 279 18.06

Total 500 000 100.00
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE OF MEETING
Notice is hereby given that the 113th Annual General Meeting of shareholders of the Company (“the meeting”) will be held in the boardroom, 2nd Floor, 

The Travel House, 6 Hood Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg at 10:00 on Friday, 22 April 2016.

RECORD DATE, ATTENDANCE AND VOTING
The record date for determining which shareholders are entitled to notice of the meeting is 4 March 2016 and the record date for determining which 

shareholders are entitled to participate in and vote at the meeting is 15 April 2016. The last day to trade in order to be eligible to vote at the meeting is 

accordingly Friday, 8 April 2016.

If you hold dematerialised shares which are registered in your name or if you are the registered holder of certificated shares:

•  you may attend the meeting in person;

• alternatively, you may appoint a proxy to represent you at the meeting by completing the attached form of proxy in accordance with the instructions 

it contains and returning it to Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, 

Marshalltown, 2107) (“transfer secretaries”) to be received no later than 48 (forty-eight) hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) 

prior to the meeting.

If you hold dematerialised shares which are not registered in your name:

•   and wish to attend the meeting, you must obtain the necessary letter of representation from your Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) 

or broker;

•   and do not wish to attend the meeting but would like your vote to be recorded at the meeting, you should contact your CSDP or broker and furnish 

them with your voting instructions; and

•   you must not complete the attached form of proxy.

A shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled, by completing the attached form of proxy and delivering it to the Company 

in accordance with the instructions on that form of proxy, to appoint a proxy to attend, participate in and vote at the meeting in that shareholder’s place. 

A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. All shareholders are entitled to attend, speak and vote at the meeting and to appoint one or more 

proxies to attend, speak and vote or abstain in their stead. On a show of hands, every member who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote, 

and, on a poll, every member present or by proxy shall have one vote for each share held by him/her.

All meeting participants (including shareholders and proxies) may be required to provide satisfactory identification to the Chairman of the meeting.

If so requested, forms of identification include valid identity documents, passports and driver’s licences.

ELECTRONIC ATTENDANCE AT THE MEETING
The Company intends to make provision for the shareholders of the Company or their proxies to participate in the meeting by way of electronic 

communication. Should you wish to participate in the meeting in this manner, you will need to contact the Company at 011 770 7837 by 10:00 on 20 

April 2016 (48 hours before meeting); alternatively, contact the transfer secretaries at 011 370 5000 by 10:00 on 20 April 2016, so that the Company 

can make the necessary arrangements for electronic communication. Should you be participating in the meeting by electronic communication, kindly 

ensure that the voting proxies are sent to the Company or the transfer secretaries by 10:00 on 20 April 2016 at the addresses set out at the end of this 

notice of meeting.

PURPOSE OF MEETING
The purpose of the meeting is:

•   to present the Audited Annual Financial Statements of the Company, which have been approved by the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors;

•   to consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, the Ordinary and Special resolutions set out below; and;

•   to deal with any other business that may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
VOTING RIGHTS
In order for these ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 9 to be adopted, the support of at least the simple majority (50% plus 1) of the total number of votes, 

which the shareholders present or represented by proxy at this meeting are entitled to cast, is required. The quorum for the meeting is 25% (twenty-five 

percent) of the issued share capital of the Company.
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ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 – Approval of the annual financial statements
To receive and adopt the annual financial statements of Cullinan for the year ended 30 September 2015.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 – Directors’ remuneration
To confirm the directors’ remuneration as detailed in the directors’ emoluments note in the integrated report of the Company for the year ended 30 

September 2015.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 – Ratification of actions of Board of Directors
To ratify and confirm the actions of all persons who held office as members of the board of directors of the Company during the year ended 30 

September 2015 in so far as such actions had any bearing on the affairs of the Company.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4 – Re-election of non-executive directors
To re-elect, by way of separate resolutions, M Ness and D Hosking as non-executive directors of the Company in accordance with the provisions of the 

Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company. Curriculum vitae information is available on page 6 of the integrated report.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5 – Re-appointment and remuneration of auditors
To re-appoint Mazars as auditors and Shaun Vorster as the individual designated auditor of the Company until the following Annual General Meeting, 

and to authorise the directors to determine their remuneration for the past year.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6 – Placing authorised but unissued share capital under the control of the directors
Resolved that the unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company be and are hereby placed under the control of the directors until the next 

Annual General Meeting and that they are hereby authorised to issue any such shares as they may deem fit in accordance with the provisions of the 

Companies Act, as amended, the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company, and the Listings Requirements of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7 – Appointment of the Chairman and members of the Audit Committee
To appoint, by way of separate resolutions, the Audit Committee members, being R Arendse (Chairman) and M Ness, as required in terms of the 

Companies Act and as recommended by King III. 

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8 – Adoption of the Company remuneration policy
To receive and adopt, on a non-binding and advisory basis, the Company remuneration policy as set out on page 13 of this annual report.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 9 – To transact such other business as may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
VOTING RIGHTS
In order for special resolutions numbers 1 to 3 to be adopted, the support of at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the total number of votes, which the 

shareholders present or represented by proxy at this meeting are entitled to cast, is required. The quorum for the meeting is 25% (twenty-five percent) 

of the issued share capital of the Company.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 – Financial assistance to related or inter-related entities to the Company
Resolved that the Board of directors is authorised, in terms of and subject to the provisions of section 45 of the Companies Act, to cause the Company 

to provide financial assistance to any company or corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company.

Reason for and effect of this resolution
Special resolution number 1 is required in terms of section 45 of the Companies Act to grant the directors of the Company the authority to cause the 

Company to provide financial assistance to any entity which is related or inter-related to the Company, and it will have this effect. This special resolution 

does not authorise the provision of financial assistance to a director or prescribed officer of the Company.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 – Financial assistance for subscription for or purchase of securities by related or interrelated entities to the 

Company
Resolved that the Board of directors is authorised, in terms of and subject to the provisions of section 44 of the Companies Act, to cause the Company 

to provide financial assistance to any company or corporation that is related or inter-related to Cullinan for the subscription for or purchase of securities 

in the Company or in any company or corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company.
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Reason for and effect of this resolution
Special resolution number 2 is required in terms of section 44 of the Companies Act to grant the directors of the Company the authority to cause the 

Company to provide financial assistance for the subscription for or purchase of securities to any entity which is related or inter-related to the Company, 

and it will have this effect. This special resolution does not authorise the provision of financial assistance to a director or prescribed officer of the 

Company.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 – Approval of the remuneration of non-executive directors for services as directors for the following year
Resolved that the following remuneration of non-executive directors of the Company for their services as directors of the Company for the period from 

1 October 2015 to 30 September 2016 be and is hereby approved in accordance with section 66(9) of the Companies Act:

•  Chairman of the Board – nil

•  Members of the Board – R20 000 per meeting attended

•   Members of committees – R10 000 per meeting attended

Reason for and effect of this resolution
Special resolution number 3 is required in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, in order that the Company may, if so authorised in terms 

of a special resolution, pay remuneration to its non-executive directors for their services as directors. The effect of this resolution is to approve the 

remuneration of the non-executive directors of the Company for their services as directors for the following year.

INTERPRETATION OF THIS NOTICE
In this notice of Annual General Meeting, all references to:

•  “Companies Act” means the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended; and

•   “JSE Listings Requirements” means the Listings Requirements of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange, as amended from time to time.

By order of the Board

Bradley Allison
Company Secretary

Johannesburg

17 March 2016



FORM OF PROXY

CULLINAN HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number: 1902/001808/06)
Share code: CUL ISIN: ZAE000013710
Share code: CUL1 ISIN: ZAE000001947
(“Cullinan” or “the Company”)

A certificated or own-name dematerialised Cullinan shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting to be held at 
10:00 on Friday, 22 April 2016 in the boardroom at 2nd Floor, The Travel House, 6 Hood Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg is entitled to 
appoint a proxy, or proxies, to attend, speak and vote thereat in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. All forms 
of proxy must be lodged with or posted to the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited (Ground Floor, 
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 or PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) or with the Company (2nd Floor, The Travel House, 6 Hood 
Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 or PO Box 41032, Craighall, 2024), by no later than 48 hours before the time for the holding of the Annual General 
Meeting.

In terms of the custody agreements entered into by the dematerialised shareholders and their Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) 
or brokers:

•   dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name dematerialised shareholders, who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting, must 
instruct their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary authority to attend the Annual General Meeting; and

•  dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name dematerialised shareholders, who wish to be represented at the Annual General 
Meeting by way of proxy, must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions by the cut-off time or date advised by their 
CSDP or broker for transactions of this nature.

I/We  (name in block capitals)

being a member(s) of Cullinan, hereby appoint:

1.   of or failing him/her,

2.   of or failing him/her,

3. the Chairman of the meeting

as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company, to be held on Friday,  

22 April 2016 at 10:00 and at any adjournment thereof, as indicated below:

In favour of* Against* Abstain*

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
1. Approval of the annual financial statements

2. Approval of directors’ remuneration

3. Ratification of actions of Board of Directors

4. Re-election of non-executive directors

4. 1
To re-elect M Ness who retires in accordance with the Memorandum of Incorporation and 

offers himself for re-election

4. 2
To re-elect D Hosking who retires in accordance with the Memorandum of Incorporation 
and offers himself for re-election

5. Re-appointment and remuneration of Auditors

6. Placing authorised but unissued share capital under the control of the directors

7. Appointment of the members of the Audit Committee

7. 1
To re-elect R Arendse as the Chairman of the Audit Committee as required in terms of 
the Companies Act and as recommended by King III

7. 2
To re-elect M Ness of the Audit Committee as required in terms of the Companies Act 
and as recommended by King III

8. Adoption of the Company remuneration policy

9. To transact such other business as may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
1. Financial assistance to related or inter-related entities to the Company

2.
Financial assistance for subscription for or purchase of securities by related or 
interrelated entities to the Company

3. Approval of the remuneration of non-executive the following year
*Indicate your instructions by way of a cross in the spaces provided above. Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy may vote as he deems fit.

Signed at on 2016

Signature

Assisted by (if applicable)

Capacity   

NOTE: Please read the instructions, notes and summary of section 58 of the Companies Act on the reverse.

Cullinan Holdings Limited
Registration Number: 1902/001808/06



INSTRUCTIONS AND NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY
This form is for use by certified shareholders and dematerialised shareholders with 
“own-name” registration whose shares are registered in their own names on the 
record date and who wish to appoint another person to represent them at the meeting. 
If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies which are shareholders 
having shares registered in their own names may appoint a proxy using this form, or 
may appoint a representative in accordance with the last paragraph below.

1. Other shareholders should not use this form. All beneficial holders who have 
dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker, and do not have their 
shares registered in their own name, must provide the CSDP or broker with 
their voting instructions. Alternatively, if they wish to attend the meeting in 
person, they should request the CSDP or broker to provide them with a letter 
of representation in terms of the custody agreement entered into between the 
beneficial owner and the CSDP or broker.

2. This form will not be effective at the meeting unless received at Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001, 
Republic of South Africa, no later than 10:00 on 20 April 2016. If a shareholder 
does not wish to deliver this form to that address, it may also be posted at the 
risk of the shareholder to PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107.

3. This form shall apply to all the ordinary shares registered in the name of 
shareholders at the record date unless a lesser number of shares is inserted.

4. A shareholder may appoint one person as his proxy by inserting the name of 
such proxy in the space provided. Any such proxy need not be a shareholder 
of the Company. If the name of the proxy is not inserted, the Chairman of the 
meeting will be appointed as proxy. If more than one name is inserted, then 
the person whose name appears first on this form and who is present at the 
meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of any persons whose 
names follow. The proxy appointed in this form may delegate the authority 
given to him in this proxy by delivering to the Company, in the manner required 
by these instructions, a further form which has been completed in a manner 
consistent with the authority given to the proxy of this form.

5. Unless revoked, the appointment of a proxy in terms of this form remains valid 
until the end of the meeting even if the meeting or part thereof is postponed or 
adjourned.

6.  If:

 6.1  a shareholder does not indicate on this form that the proxy is to vote in  
 favour of or against or to abstain from voting on any resolution; or

 6.2  the shareholder gives contrary instructions in relation to any matter; or

 6.3  any additional resolution/s are properly put before the meeting; or

 6.4  any resolution listed in the form of proxy is modified or amended, the proxy  
 shall be entitled to vote or abstain from voting, as he thinks fit, in relation  
 to that resolution or matter. If, however, the shareholder has provided  
 further written instructions which accompany this form and which indicate  
 how the proxy should vote or abstain from voting in any of the circumstances  
 referred to in paragraphs 6.1 to 6.4, then the proxy shall comply with those  
 instructions.

7.  If this form is signed by a person (signatory) on behalf of the shareholder, 
whether in terms of a power of attorney or otherwise, then this form will not be 
effective unless:

 7.1  it is accompanied by a certified copy of the authority given by the  
 shareholder to the signatory; or

 7.2  the Company has already received a certified copy of that authority.

8.  The Chairman of the meeting may, at his discretion, accept or reject any form 
or other written appointment of a proxy which is received by the Chairman prior 
to the time when the meeting deals with a resolution or matter to which the 
appointment of the proxy relates, even if that appointment of a proxy has not 
been completed and/or received in accordance with these instructions.

 However, the Chairman shall not accept any such appointment of a proxy 
unless the Chairman is satisfied that it reflects the intention of the shareholder 
appointing the proxy.

9.  Any alterations made in this form must be initialled by the authorised  
signatory/ies.

10.  This form is revoked if the shareholder who granted the proxy:

 10.1  gives written notice of such revocation to the Company, so that it is received  
 by the Company by no later than 10:00 on 20 April 2016; or

 10.2  appoints another proxy for the meeting; or

 10.3  attends the meeting himself in person.

11.  All notices which a shareholder is entitled to receive in relation to the Company 
shall continue to be sent to that shareholder and shall not be sent to the proxy.

12.  A minor must be assisted by his/her guardian, unless proof of competency to 
sign has been recorded by the Company.

13.  If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies which are 
shareholders of the Company having shares registered in their own name may, 
instead of completing this form of proxy, appoint a representative to represent 
them and exercise all of their rights at the meeting by giving written notice of 
the appointment of that representative. This notice will not be effective at the 
meeting unless it is accompanied by a duly certified copy of the resolution/s 
or other authorities in terms of which that representative is appointed and is 
received at the Company’s transfer office, Computershare Investor Services 
(Proprietary) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001, Republic of 
South Africa, no later than 10:00 on 20 April 2016.

SUMMARY OF RIGHTS ESTABLISHED BY SECTION 58 OF THE COMPANIES 
ACT, AS REQUIRED IN TERMS OF SUB-SECTION 58(8)(B)(I)
1.  A shareholder may at any time appoint any individual, including a 

nonshareholder of the Company, as a proxy to participate in, speak and vote 
at a shareholders’ meeting on his or her behalf (section 58(1)(a)), or to give or 
withhold consent on behalf of the shareholder to a decision in terms of section 
60 (shareholders acting other than at a meeting) (section 58(1)(b)).

2.  A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder 
and remains valid for one year after the date on which it was signed or any 
longer or shorter period expressly set out in the appointment, unless it is 
revoked in terms of paragraph 6.3 or expires earlier in terms of paragraph 10.4 
below (section 58(2)).

3.  A shareholder may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies and 
may appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached to different 
securities held by the shareholder (section 58(3)(a)).

4.  A proxy may delegate his or her authority to act on behalf of the shareholder to 
another person, subject to any restriction set out in the instrument appointing 
the proxy (“proxy instrument”) (section 58(3)(b)).

5.  A copy of the proxy instrument must be delivered to the Company, or to any 
other person acting on behalf of the Company, before the proxy exercises any 
rights of the shareholder at a shareholders’ meeting (section 58(3)(c)) and in 
terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation (“MOI”) of the Company at least 48 
hours before the meeting commences.

6.  Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy:

 6.1  the appointment is suspended at any time and to the extent that the  
 shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any  
 rights as a shareholder (section 58)(4)(a));

 6.2  the appointment is revocable unless the proxy appointment expressly  
 states otherwise (section 58(4)(b)); and

 6.3  if the appointment is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy  
 appointment by cancelling it in writing or by making a later, inconsistent  
 appointment of a proxy, and delivering a copy of the revocation  
 instrument to the proxy and to the Company (section 58(4)(c)).

7.  The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final 
cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as of 
the later of the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any, or the date on 
which the revocation instrument was delivered as contemplated in paragraph 
6.3 above (section 58(5)).

8.  If the proxy instrument has been delivered to the Company, as long as that 
appointment remains in effect, any notice required by the Companies Act or 
the Company’s MOI to be delivered by the Company to the shareholder must 
be delivered by the Company to the shareholder (section 58(6)(a)), or the proxy 
or proxies, if the shareholder has directed the Company to do so in writing  
and paid any reasonable fee charged by the Company for doing so (section 
58(6)(b)).

9.  A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of 
the shareholder without direction, except to the extent that the MOI or proxy 
instrument provides otherwise (section 58(7)).

10.   if a Company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one or more 
persons named by the Company as a proxy, or supplies a form of proxy 
instrument:

10.1  the invitation must be sent to every shareholder entitled to notice of the 
meeting at which the proxy is intended to be exercised (section 58(8)(a));

 10.2  the invitation or form of proxy instrument supplied by the Company  
 must:

  10.2.1  bear a reasonably prominent summary of the rights  
  established in section 58 of the Companies Act (section  
  58(8)(b)(i));

   10.2.2  contain adequate blank space, immediately preceding the  
  name(s) of any person(s) named in it, to enable a  
  shareholder to write the name, and if desired, an  
  alternative name of a proxy chosen by the shareholder  
  (section 58(8)(b)(ii)); and

   10.2.3  provide adequate space for the shareholder to indicate  
  whether the appointed proxy is to vote in favour of or  
  against any resolution(s) to be put at the meeting, or is to  
  abstain from voting (section 58(8)(b)(iii));

 10.3  the Company must not require that the proxy appointment be made  
 irrevocable (section 58(8)(c)); and

 10.4  the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the meeting  
 at which it was intended

Cullinan Holdings Limited
Registration Number: 1902/001808/06



Tourism,  Leisure  &  FinanciaL  services

TRAVEL AND TOURISM
THOMPSONS HOLIDAYS

Tel: +27 11 770 7700  |  Email: info@thompsons.co.za  |  www.thompsons.co.za

ISLAND LIGHT HOLIDAYS
Tel: +27 11 770 7821  |  Email: info@islandlightholidays.co.za  |  www.islandlightholidays.co.za

SAA HOLIDAYS
Tel: +27 11 770 7700  |  Email: info@saaholidays.co.za  |  www.saaholidays.co.za

THOMPSONS AFRICA 
Tel: +27 31 275 3500  |  Email: info@thompsonsafrica.co.za  |  www.thompsonsafrica.com

PLANET AFRICA TOURS
Tel: +27 11 770 7700  |  Email: info@planettours.com  |  www.planetafricatours.com

IKAPA INBOUND TOURS
Tel: +27 21 506 2500  |  Email: info@ikapa.co.za  |  www.ikapa.co.za

SPRINGBOK ATLAS TOURS AND SAFARIS
Tel: +27 21 460 4700 |  Email: tours@springbokatlas.com  |  www.springbokatlas.com

GROSVENOR TOURS
Tel: +27 21 460 4888  |  Email: info@grosvenortours.co.za  |  www.grosvenortours.com

THOMPSONS GATEWAY (SINGAPORE) 
Email: tgops2@singnet.com  |  www.thompsonsafrica.com

HYLTON ROSS EXCLUSIVE TOURING
Tel: +27 21 511 1784  |  Email : info@hyltonross.co.za  |  www.hyltonross.co.za

SPRINGBOK ATLAS COACH CHARTER
Tel: +27 21 460 4700  |  Email: cptcharter@springbokatlas.co.za  |  www.springbokatlas.co.za

IKAPA COACH CHARTER
Tel: +27 21 506 2585  |  Email: info@ikapacoaches.co.za  |  www.ikapacoaches.co.za

PENTRAVEL
Tel: +27 31 275 2000  |  Email: info@pentravel.co.za  |  www.pentravel.co.za

THOMPSONS LEISURE TRAVEL
Tel: +27 11 770 7700  |  Email: info@thompsons.co.za  |  www.thompsons.co.za

THOMPSONS CORPORATE TRAVEL
Tel: +27 11 770 7700  |  Email: info@thompsons.co.za  |  www.thompsons.co.za

EDUSPORT TRAVEL
Tel : +27 31 303 4340  |  Email: info@edusport.co.za  |  www.edusport.co.za

MARINE AND BOATING
CENTRAL BOATING

Tel: +27 21 424 802  |  Email: david@centralboating.co.za  |  www.centralboating.co.za

MANEX MARINE 
Tel: +27 21 511 7292  |  Email: manex@manex.co.za  |  www.manex.co.za

FINANCIAL SERVICES
GLACIER ENTERPRISES 

Tel: +27 21 409 1630  |  Email: mike@glacent.co.za  |  www.glacier-enterprises.co.za

CULLINAN FINANCIAL SERVICES
Tel: +27 11 770 7700  |  Email: Bradley.allison@cullinan.co.za  |  www.cullinan.co.za

CHESTER FINANCE
Tel: +27 11 274 1700  |  Email: jake.lerman@chestergroup.co.za  |  www.chestergroup.co.za



CULLINAN HOLDINGS LTD 

HEAD OFFICE

The Travel House, 6 Hood Ave, Rosebank, Johannesburg

Tel: +27 (11) 770-7700 Fax: +27 (11) 770-7670

www.cullinan.co.za

JSE SHARE CODE:

(CUL ISIN: ZAE000013710)

(CULP ISIN: ZAE000001947)
DIRECTORS: MICHAEL TOLLMAN I LINDA PAMPALLIS I MICHAEL NESS  

I DAVID HOSKING I AMI AZOULAY I SINDISWA NHLUMAYO I GAVIN TOLLMAN I DAVID STANDAGE  

I RUDEWAAN ARENDSE

Tourism,  Leisure  &  FinanciaL  services

TRAVEL & TOURISM

COACHING & TOURING

Chobezi

FINANCIAL SERVICES

Chester 
FinanCe

MARINE & BOATING

a s s e T  F i n a n c e

Meetings & Incentives


